

# JOURNAL OF STUDENT AFFAIRS



VOLUME IX, 2000

## Colorado State University Journal of Student Affairs Mission Statement and Goals

#### MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the Colorado State University Journal of Student Affairs is to develop and produce a scholarly publication that reflects current education issues and the professional interests of student affairs practitioners. Specifically, the Journal provides an opportunity for the publication of articles by current students, alumni, and faculty of the Student Affairs in Higher Education Graduate Program.

#### **GOALS**

The *Journal* will promote scholarly work, reflecting the importance of professional and academic writing in higher education.

The Editorial Board of the *Journal* will offer opportunities for students to develop editorial skills, critical thinking skills, and writing skills while producing a professional journal.

The *Journal* will serve as a communication tool to alumni and other professionals regarding updates and the status of the Student Affairs in Higher Education Graduate Program at Colorado State.

## Colorado State University Journal of Student Affairs Volume IX, 2000

#### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Managing Editor Gregory R. Kish '00

Coordinating Editor Katherine P. Casserly '00

Technical Editor Heather Shea Gasser '00

Content Editor Laura M. Hattas '00

Production Editor Derek E. Morgan '00

First-Year Liason Chris E. Bryner '01

Advisor Martha H. Fosdick, '95, Assistant to the Vice President

for Student Affairs

#### READER BOARD

Cindy Braly '01
Chris Bryner '01
Lisa Campos '01
Scott Coenen '01
Barb Dahlke '00
Meg Houghton '00
Rebecca Newman-Gonchar '01

Jeremy Page '01 José-Luis Riera '01 Jacqueline Sene '01 Tara Stormoen '01 Nick Sweeton '01 Deborah Timms '01 Lisa Turney '01 Torgor Volden '01 Sarah Woodside '01 Lance Wright '01

To contact the Editorial Board, please call or write:

Student Affairs in Higher Education Colorado State University 220 Palmer Center 1005 West Laurel Street Fort Collins, CO 80521 (970) 491-4731

The *Journal* can be found on the World Wide Web at: http://www.colostate.edu/Depts/DSA/

#### **Table of Contents**

5	DIRECTOR'S PERSPECTIVE				
	Grant Sherwood Ph. D. and Laura M. Hatta				

- 8 STUDENT AFFAIRS IN HIGHER EDUCATION DIVERSITY SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENTS
- 9 NOTE FROM THE EDITOR
- 10 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

#### ARTICLES

- 11 Bumper Sticker Ethnography: A Study of Campus Culture James H. Banning
- 18 How the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act is Affecting Today's Colege Student Lisa D. Campos
- 25 Enhancing the Physical Interior Environment of the Workplace: Tips for Student Affairs and Higher Education Administrators Stephanie Clemons, Ph.D.
- Organizational Illuminatus: The Effects of Major Exigency at Colorado State University Mark S. Denke, Ed.D. and Ray F. Gasser, M.S.
- 42 Learning Communities: Past, Present, and Future Keith Edwards and Nick Sweeton
- 52 The Legality and Constitutionality of Mandatory Students Fees: The Campus Climate for Student Organizations After Rosenberger and Southworth

Andrew R. Feldman and Jennifer G. Roy

- 62 Just E-mail Me: Students of the Information and Technology Age
  Laura M. Hattas
- 69 An Assessment of International Students Needs in the United States Randy R. McCrillis

4 • Journal of Student Affairs, Vol. IX, 2000

# 77 The Role of Orientation Program in Guiding Freshmen Transition to College Life

Rebecca A. Newman-Gonchar

85 Connecting Culture and Vision: Prescriptions for the Leader Brett E. Perozzi, Ph.D.

## 93 Academic Life on the College Campus José-Luis Riera

101 Book Review - Gender on Campus: Issues for College Women, by Sharon Bohn Gmelch Reviewed by Wendy M. Wallace

105 CLASS OF 1999

#### 110 GUIDELINES FOR MANUSCRIPT PUBLICATION

#### 112 PAST MANAGING EDITORS

## **Director's Perspective**

# Grant P. Sherwood, Ph.D. Director-Student Affairs in Higher Education Graduate Program

This past year our faculty and students approached the daunting task of curriculum review. A team comprised of faculty, students, alumni and an outside facilitator met regularly throughout the Spring Semester in attempt to revise/enhance our total program of study. Our guiding principals for this review were focused on the CAS standards, comparative analysis of other programs, feedback from our alumni working in the field and recommendations from our current faculty and students. Course content, skill development, ethical practices, course sequencing, duplication of effort, and preparation of student affairs professionals for the new millenium were topics of discussion throughout the semester.

Although it is difficult to fully describe the effort that went into this review, I was tremendously impressed with the team's dedication and end product. The following changes were the result of this work and all ideas have been implemented:

- The program requirements moved from 48 to 45 credits. This decrease
  was primarily the results of shifting our practicum requirements from a
  total of 300 hours to 150 hours. Two practicums are still required. It was
  felt that students have ample opportunity to gain practical experiences in
  our program through assistantships, independent study and other forms of
  fieldwork.
- A counseling course was added back into the core. Not only do CAS standards dictate this requirement, but a course focusing on helping skills specifically designed for student affairs professionals is one of those "givens" that has needed our attention for a number of years.
- The research sequence was changed and a new course entitled "Research Methods and Proposal Design" was added as an incentive during the second semester to help students begin their various research projects in a more timely and effective manner.
- An additional 1 hour credit was added to "Law in Student Affairs" driven by the extensive content and importance of the topic.

- 6 Journal of Student Affairs, Vol. IX, 2000
- Other changes included offering a more diverse selection of workshop topics. We feel workshops continue to be a wonderful, albeit brief, opportunity to offer students concentrated exposure to selected topics and services. In addition, the program has begun to offer specific topics in a colloquium format. Half-day sessions are offered in "writing skills," "employment opportunities/strategies," and "practicum selection."

In 1995, we conducted a mid-decade review because of dramatic changes that were occurring in higher education environment. These assumptions are even more real today:

- As students attending institutions are increasingly more heterogeneous, student affairs personnel preparation programs must prepare graduates to be effective in these changing educational environments.
- Institutions of higher education are experiencing tremendous pressures to change resulting in challenges to traditional administrative approaches to serving students, perspectives on student development, and the helping relationship.
- The administration of student affairs activities within the context of an institution of higher education is a very dynamic undertaking. It is essential that graduates be well prepared for the work environments which they will enter.

One of our students, Laura Hattas, contributed significantly to this review process and the following represents her comments and observations.

The opportunity to review the curriculum for the SAHE program, of which I was currently part, was unique and noteworthy. Many who have graduated the program probably recall both times of support and dissent for certain subjects or classes. I have been no different. After the experience of the review, however, I am very excited for the new changes, and also very excited that they were few. Hearing the expertise of committee members, as well as their thoughtfulness toward the curriculum design reminded me of being a young child. Sounding in my ears was the voice of my parents, "someday, you will understand." I suppose, as with many things, full understanding comes with knowing. It would be foolish for me to assert that I have achieved either, and yet my understanding is more complete now than prior to my experience with the committee.

The committee was able to look at esteemed programs throughout the country, measuring them against Colorado State University's standards for an education in student affairs. While similarities were bound to exist, the differences were striking. CSU candidates vie for a Master of Science degree, they complete (in many cases) an additional 10-16 credits, their professors also serve as respected, practicing professionals, and they are expected to attain an array of practical experiences pertaining to the discipline. In addition, the committee used research based on feedback from graduates of the SAHE Program and national standards to evaluate the current curriculum and assess appropriate changes.

While the differences between programs, from the vantage point of graduate feedback and committee members, were seen as hallmarks of the program, the demanding credit load seemed cumbersome, and the committee questioned its reasonability against competing programs. Another point of concern was the recent movement away from a counseling requirement. These were, however, the most obvious points to consider. Throughout the process, each course was considered against its actual realization of its intended purpose and outcome, appropriateness of credit allotments, currently employed teaching methods, and the suitability of the course name. Most intriguing during our conversations as a committee were comments by those who had reviewed the program before. The history was so valuable. At times, a member of the group would suggest a change that would bring the program back to its design before the previous review. Many points about changing trends in higher education, as well as the cyclical nature of environments were challenging and illuminating.

I am very grateful to have been part of such a review. Looking at the whole of the SAHE Program at CSU, arguing each of its components to find whether it helps to fulfill the end goal of educating practitioners in the field of student affairs, provides me with great confidence that we graduate prepared, committed, and quality professionals.

Again, my thanks to Mark Kretovics who facilitated this effort and to the following students and faculty that participated in the review: Kris Binard, Jody Donovan, Andrew Feldman, Martha Fosdick, Laura Hattas, Keith Miser, Paul Shang, Grant Sherwood.

# Student Affairs in Higher Education Diversity Scholarship Recipients

#### Fall 1999 Winners

Heather Shea Gasser Randy McCrillis Susana M. Rundquist

Carl's Jr. in the Lory Student Center has donated funds to establish research grants for the Student Affairs in Higher Education Program to enhance racial and ethnic diversity.

Congratulations Scholarship Winners!

#### **Note From The Editor**

Gregory R. Kish ('00)

With each annual publication of the Colorado State University Journal of Student Affairs authors, editors, readers, and volunteers strive to increase its quality and improve its scholarly reputation. The goals of the Journal include promoting scholarly writing, providing opportunities for students to enhance their writing and editing skills, and communicating with alumni and other student affairs professionals. This year I witnessed contributors to the Journal collaborate to increase the effectiveness of this publication in achieving these goals. Their contributions shine through in our ninth volume of the Journal.

As with most student affairs work, the *Journal* involves more than the concrete tasks that production of a scholarly journal entails. In fact, paramount to the *Journal's* purpose stand the intangible benefits of interaction among all those involved in our effort to create the highest quality publication while simultaneously learning from one another in the process.

In preparing this volume of the *Journal*, the Editorial Board intentionally ensured that involvement with the *Journal* provided a worthwhile educational experience for all authors, reader board members, and volunteers. We increased our level of contact and communication with authors, orchestrated a thorough and constructive review of all submissions, and added a First-Year Liaison position to the Editorial Board to facilitate communication between first-year students and the Board while increasing continuity for next year's *Journal*.

On behalf of the Editorial Board, I want to express our hope that you find this ninth volume of the *Journal of Student Affairs* a valuable and thought-provoking collection of writing that broadens your professional and intellectual horizons.

#### Acknowledgments

The 1999-2000 Colorado State University Journal of Student Affairs Editorial Board members would like to extend their thanks and appreciation to the following individuals:

- Martha Fosdick, Assistant to the Vice President for Student Affairs at Colorado State University. Her help and guidance has been invaluable to the board.
- Grant Sherwood, Director of the SAHE program and Housing and Food Services, for his dedication to programs such as the *Journal*.
- The Reader Board, for their valuable input into the editing process. The Reader Board went through the time- intensive process of editing articles in the *Journal*.
- Keith Miser, the Vice President for Student Affairs at Colorado State University, for helping support the *Journal*.
- Mark Denke, the Assistant Vice President for Student Affairs at Colorado State University, for his time putting the *Journal* on-line.
- The Alumni of the CSPA/SAHE Program at Colorado State University.
   We value the time many have taken over the last several years, and especially this year, to submit articles to the *Journal*, and to continue to support the program.
- Heather Shea Gasser, for her work in designing the Journal's new cover.
- Wendy Wallace, for continued guidance, support, and encouragement throughout the *Journal* production process.
- The Palmer Center Staff, for allowing us to use their offices and computers for the production of the *Journal*.

### Bumper Sticker Ethnography: A Study of Campus Culture

#### James H. Banning

The purpose of this ethnographic study was to illustrate the use of campus artifacts "automobile bumper stickers" to assist in the understanding of campus culture and subcultures. Bumper stickers were categorized by thematic content and by campus groups associated with assigned parking lots. In addition to identifying cultural values associated with different campus groups, the presence of bumper stickers supporting opposing views on an issue suggest a potential conflict in campus values. Finally, the absence of certain bumper sticker messages suggests values that are not being promoted on campus.

#### BACKGROUND

The focus of an ethnographic inquiry is on answering the question of what is the culture of this group of people (Patton, 1990). Traditionally, the method of choice for the ethnographer was to "live in" the culture as a participant observer and collect information about the culture through interviews, observations, and documents. Banning (1991) points out the usefulness of ethnographic approach in the attempt to understand the culture of the college and university campus.

The notion of assessing a campus culture through an audit process has been well documented (Kuh and Whitt, 1988; Whitt, 1993; Whitt and Kuh, 1991). Whitt (1993) defined a culture audit as providing "both insiders and outsiders with a means to systematically discover and identify the artifacts, values, and assumptions that comprise an organization's culture" (p. 83). Kuh and Whitt (1988) note that cultural assumptions and beliefs, "... are just below the surface... manifested in observable forms or artifacts" (p.16). Geertz (1973) suggests a similar notion that artifacts store cultural meaning. Banning and Bartels (1997) illustrate how photographs of cultural artifacts (artwork, posters, sculpture, physical structures, and graffiti) can help the ethnographer evaluate the multicultural "climate" of a campus. Banning (1996) noted that bumper stickers attached to vehicles parked on campus could be viewed as cultural artifacts and could provide information to assist in the assessment and understanding of a campus culture.

Gardner (1995) shared a similar notion about the importance of observing bumper stickers. She observed that bumper stickers lead to a portrait of America "...a nation

of people in automobiles - that ultimate national icon - on the move with stickers expressing a view, sharing a frustration, or offering some perceived insight, solution, or wisdom" (p. 6). She went on to note:

The bumper sticker may be an expression of personal philosophy, political anger and outrage, religious conviction, parental pride, sexual preference, or social comment. It may represent a simple statement of personal humor, ethnic identity, or class resentment. It may offer views of the opposite sex and marriage or of American culture and social institutions (p. 6).

Gardner (1995) also pointed out that "bumper stickers do not emerge in a vacuum but with the era and political culture of which they are a part" (p. 6). The purpose of this article is to illustrate the use of campus automobile "bumper stickers" to assist in the understanding of the campus culture and subcultures.

#### **PROCEDURE**

#### Setting

The study was conducted on a large university campus in the Rocky Mountain region with a student population in the range of 20,000 to 25,000.

#### **Data Collection**

Rather than using a particular sampling strategy observers attempted to record all bumper stickers of all cars in all campus parking lots on a particular day. The campus-wide canvass of bumper stickers occurred on a typical day (non-holiday and no unusual events or weather conditions). Small teams of graduate students canvassed each parking lot. The observers recorded the following information: lot location, lot zone (the lot zone determined the parking eligibility for particular groups), number of cars in the lot, the number of cars with bumper stickers, and a verbatim record of each bumper sticker message. See Table 1.

#### **Data Analysis**

After entering the data (bumper sticker messages) into a qualitative data analysis software package, each message received a code indicating the parking zone and a code reflecting the content of the message. After coding all bumper stickers, major themes emerged inductively from the coding structure. These major themes or categories formed the basis of the subgroup analyses. See Table 2.

#### **DISCUSSION: CAMPUS CULTURE**

The placement of bumper stickers on vehicles driven to campus by faculty, students, and staff seems to be a relatively frequent practice. Forty to fifty percent of all

vehicles associated with student lots had bumper stickers. However, faculty and staff were approximately half as likely to engage in this activity as the students.

The bumper sticker most often found on campus vehicles across all groups represented the identification of the local institution. The value of "pride in the local institution" would be a reasonable interpretation. If other institutions had been included in the study, then perhaps a normative baseline could be established to make comparative judgements across institutions regarding the "degree of pride in the local institution." If an institution ranked very low in this measure of "pride in local institution," then additional measures to assess the cause of the lack of pride might be warranted.

A relatively high number of bumper stickers represented institutions other than the one under study. Could this finding represent "split" institutional allegiance? Or could it reflect perhaps a high number of transfer students on campus? For faculty and staff, the high number of non-local institutional stickers could represent institutions from which they graduated, and/or by which they were previously employed. Further cross-institutional studies might find the ratio of local to non-local institutional identification stickers a measure of institutional acculturation.

The large number and variety of bumper stickers representing organizational memberships found across all campus groups could be viewed as a need to proclaim some aspect of identity and/or perhaps an expression of a need to belong. This broad range of organizational bumper stickers included professional organizations, activity clubs, and social groups.

When concentrating only on the student lots, many of the professional and activity organizations related to outdoor activities, for example, skiing, hiking, climbing, scuba diving, equestrian, rodeo, and other physical activities. No doubt, these activities are not only reflective of a youth culture on campus, but also reflective of the mountain setting of the campus. Coupled with this finding was the high number of bumper stickers relating to outdoor adventure and the high number of bumper stickers advertising products and shops associated with outdoor activities, i.e., ski shops, scuba gear shops, and a variety of product names associated with outdoor activities. The campus bumper stickers also suggested an allegiance to particular radio stations, bands and performers, and professional sports teams. In addition, a commitment to environmental and animal rights issues frequently appeared in all groups. In summary, the bumper stickers appear to reflect a student culture that is youthful and involved in outdoor activities. Within this culture a sense of identity comes from belonging to organizations devoted to these activities as well as sports teams and radio stations. The culture reflects a commitment to environmental and animal rights issues.

Faculty and staff culture evident in their bumper stickers presents a similar picture, but one represented by the older age of this group. Outdoor adventure stickers appeared, but not as often. Organizational membership remained high, but the organizations most often reflected professional and career activities, rather than adventure activities. The categories of "hobbies" and "liberal political causes" appeared on the faculty and staff list, but not on the student list.

Not only can bumper stickers help describe campus culture, but an examination of the various student parking zones (residence hall parking zones, commuter parking zones, and family housing parking zones) detected values of campus subcultures. For example, the family housing group had a higher presence of bumper stickers associated with "car insurance" and "family issues" than any other student group. The commuter students' bumper stickers reflected more of the "outdoor adventure" and "recreational sports" areas than any other group. Unlike all other groups the category of "Christian identification" did not emerge as a top category in commuter lots. Also of all groups, commuters had the highest ranking of the "miscellaneous" category. This perhaps reflects the diversity of interests within commuters. The two categories "humor" and "peace issues" emerged unique to the residence hall students

Conflicts in campus values can also be interpreted from the bumper stickers by looking at issues where there are a number of bumper stickers on both sides of the issue. This suggests that differences in opinion are being held on important issues. Two conflicting issues emerged in this particular campus study: Anti-abortion vs. pro-choice and creation vs. evolution. Given the high identification of the campus culture with Christianity these issues might be expected. For a campus programmer in student activities, these might be the issues that would attract and involve students in important debates.

Finally, insights can be gained about the campus culture by answering the question: What bumper stickers were missing that one might expect on a campus? One notable absence from the inventory of bumper stickers, despite the fact the study was conducted in an election year, was the very few stickers devoted to political issues, candidates, or political parties. This suggests apathy toward the political processes associated with government. Also, of the thousands of bumper stickers inventoried only a handful dealt with issues of diversity and tolerance, despite strong institutional goals and programs devoted to this concern. Oddly enough, there were also only a very small number of stickers that promoted or identified "academic majors." Student's values or interests in their academic majors appear not to translate into the presence of bumper stickers.

It is important to note a number of cautions. This study canvassed the bumper stickers at only one institution. The assumption that the bumper stickers on the

vehicles represent values associated with the "zone" in which the vehicle is parked has some room for error. The bumper sticker could represent the values of a previous owner, the vehicle could be a borrowed car, a parent's car, or the vehicle's bumper sticker could have been attached to the car without permission of the owner. The availability of parking for the various groups must also be considered. The large number of bumper stickers involved in this study, however, decreases the impact of these possible cautions.

#### SUMMARY

Campus bumper stickers can contribute to an understanding of campus culture as well as to an understanding of the campus subcultures identified through assigned parking zones. In addition, noting the presence of bumper stickers supporting opposing views on a particular issue can identify or predict potential conflicts in campus values. The absence of certain bumper sticker messages might also suggest what values are not being promoted on campus. Bumper sticker ethnography may not present the most refined picture of the campus culture, but it has potential, as a quick and easy tool, to assist in the process of understanding campus culture.

#### REFERENCES

- Banning, J.H. (1991). Ethnography: A promising method of inquiry for the study of campus ecology. *The Campus Ecologist*, 9(3), 1-3.
- Banning, J.H. (1996). Bumper sticker ethnography: Another way to view the campus ecology. The Campus Ecologist, 14(3), 1-4.
  Banning, J.H. & Bartels, S. (1997). A taxonomy: Campus physical artifacts as
- communicators of campus multiculturalism. NASPA Journal, 35(1), 29-37.

- Gardner, C.W. (1995). Bumper sticker wisdom: America's pulpit above the tailpipe. Hillsboro, OR: Beyond Words Publishing Company.

  Geertz, C. (1973). The interpretation of culture. New York: Basic Books.

  Kuh, G.D. & Whitt, E.J. (1988). The invisible tapestry: Cultures in American colleges and universities. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report, No. 1. Washington, D.C.: Association for the Study of Higher Education.
- Patton, M. (1990). Qualitative evaluation and research methods. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Whitt, E.J. (1993). Making the familiar strange: Discovering culture. In G.D. Kuh (Ed.). Cultural perspectives in student affairs work. Washington, D.C.: American College Personnel Association.
- Whitt, E.J. & Kuh, G.D. (1991). The use of qualitative methods in a team approach to multiple institution studies. The Review of Higher Education, 14, 317-337.

#### 16 • Journal of Student Affairs, Vol. IX, 2000

James Banning is a professor in the School of Education at Colorado State University.

Table 1. Campus vehicles with and without bumper stickers by parking lot zone type.

Type of Parking Zone	Vehicles with Stickers	Vehicles without Stickers	Total Number of Vehicles	
Faculty/Staff	255 (21%)	966 (79%)	1221	
Residence Halls	197 (42%)	271 (58%)	468	
Family Housing	324 (44%)	407 (56%)	731	
Commuter Students	1027 (51%)	992 (49%)	2019	
TOTALS	1803 (41%)	2636 (59%)	4439	

Table 2. Top Twelve Bumper Sticker Categories with Frequencies by Campus Group

Rank	Faculty and Staff	Residence Hall Students	Family Housing Students	Commuter Students	Total Campus
1.	Local Institutional Identification (48)	Local Institutional Identification (122)	Local Institutional Identification (63)	Local Institutional Identification (507)	Local Institutional Identification (740)
2.	Other College Identification (36)	Organizational Membership (21)	Organizational Membership (56)	Outdoor Adventure (77)	Organizational Membership (165)
3.	Organizational Membership (31)	Radio Station Support (20)	Automobile Issues (30)	Miscellaneous (69)	Other College Identification (126)
4.	Radio Station Support (24)	Bands and Performers (16)	Radio Station Support (26)	Other College Identification (62)	Radio Station Support (120)
5.	Advertising Products and Services (19)	Advertising Products and Services (8)	Other College Identification (25)	Advertising Products and Services (60)	Outdoor Adventure (114)
6.	Environmental Issues and Animal Rights (18)	Christian Identification (8)	Environmental Issues and Animal Rights (18)	Bands and Performers (57)	Advertising Products and Services (99)
7.	Outdoor Adventure (17)	Environmental Issues and Animal Rights (7)	Outdoor Adventure (13)	Organizational Membership (57)	Miscellaneous (98)
8.	Christian Identification (16)	Outdoor Adventure (7)	Advertising Products and Services (11)	Radio Station Support (50)	Environmental Issues and Animal Rights (88)
9	Hobbies (16)	Automobile Issues (6)	Miscellaneous (10)	Environmental Issues and Animal Rights (45)	Bands and Performers (85)
10.	Miscellaneous (15)	Allegiance to Professional Sports Teams (6)	Allegiance to Professional Sports Teams (9)	Recreational Sports (37)	Automobile Issues (71)
11.	Family Issues (11)	Humor (6)	Family Issues (8)	Automobile Issues (29)	Christian Identification (48)
12.	Political/ Liberal (9)	Peace Issues (4)	Christian Identification (7)	Allegiance to Professional Sports Teams (27)	Allegiance to Professional Sports Teams (48)

# How the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act Is Affecting Today's College Student

#### Lisa D. Campos

The most recent legislative changes to the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) have affected colleges and universities. This article focuses on how the law has changed, how those changes are affecting colleges and universities and the various responses colleges and universities have had regarding the changes.

#### INTRODUCTION

With the recent changes in legislation, many higher education institutions need to clarify the roles of the administrators, the student, and the student's parents with respect to a student's right to privacy. Should universities have the ability to release educational records without the student's consent? If so, is it the role of a university to act as "informers" and call the student's parents when their child has violated a university policy? Likewise, what rights and responsibilities should students gain as they transition from child to adult and from high school to college? What about the parents' rights to information about their child? When sending their child to college, do they relinquish their parental obligations or should parents be entitled to know the details of their child's disciplinary record? There are no absolute answers to the above questions. However, recent legislation may serve as a guide for colleges and universities in appropriately respecting students and their privacy rights.

The United States Congress passed the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), also known as the Buckley Amendment, in 1974. Since then, the Act has provided institutions of higher education with a legal guideline to follow when handling students' privacy rights. The Act was adopted in order to "... protect them [students] from inappropriate release of those [educational] records" (Lowry, 1994). Originally, without written consent from either the student or the parent (if a student is under the age of eighteen), college and universities could not release educational records.

The federal legislative process has added various amendments, which have altered FERPA in many ways. For example, in 1994 an amendment to FERPA required colleges and universities to release a security report that includes campus crime reporting, institutional response, and prevention. Perpetrators of the crimes are not identified in these reports. While still protecting the identities of students, the various amendments to the Act have influenced the changes to FERPA's

philosophical idea of protecting the privacy of students. Recently, Congress has again altered FERPA again. In 1998, amendments modifying Sections 951, which relates to crimes of violence, and 952, which relates to alcohol or drug possession, were passed. These amendments are effecting not only colleges' and universities' policies, but also students' rights to privacy.

It is important to address several components of the new amendments. The author will describe the changes and the reasons for the 1998 amendments to Sections 951 and 952. The author will also explain various universities' responses and more specifically, their implemented policies and results with their administrative concerns, as well as describing student affairs professionals' roles.

## 1998 CHANGES TO THE FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT

The modifications to Sections 951 and 952, established in the 1998 FERPA amendments, will have an affect on students' lives. As a result to the change of Section 951, the college or university is allowed to release students' records regarding disciplinary proceedings when a student has committed or "... is an alleged perpetrator of any crime of violence (as that term is defined in Section 16 of Title 18, United States Code), or a nonforcible sex offense. ... " (Department of Education, 34 CFR part 99). Universities can release the "final results of any disciplinary proceeding" which "shall include only the name of the student, the violation committed, and any sanction imposed by the institution on that student; and may include the name of any other student, such as a victim or witness, only with the written consent of that other student" (Department of Education, 34 CFR part 99).

The alteration made to Section 952 of FERPA involves students and alcohol. In the past, a college or university could not release information regarding a student's alcohol violations if the student was over eighteen years of age, unless the university could prove the student was financially dependent on his or her parent(s). FERPA now states parents or legal guardians of students who have violated any alcohol or controlled substance law can now be notified if the student is under the age of twenty-one and "... the institution determines that the student has committed a disciplinary violation with respect to such use or possession" (Department of Education, 34 CFR part 99).

With these two amendments in place, students' records are not as secure as they were in the past. However, some people feel with today's societal problems, student records should not be as protected as they were in 1974.

#### REASONS FOR AMENDMENTS TO FERPA

Most people recognize binge drinking and alcohol abuse as common problems at many colleges and universities. In fact, according to *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, "among more than 14,500 students surveyed at 116 institutions, 43 percent reported that they had binged at lease once in the preceding two weeks..." (Wechsler, 1998). These and other behavioral problems, including criminal activity occurring on college campuses nationwide initiated, the changes made to the FERPA. Specifically, following five alcohol-related deaths, Senator John W. Warner of Virginia was persuaded by a state Task Force on Drinking by College Students to sponsor the amendment (Reisberg, 1998).

#### Section 951

Providing students with a safe campus environment was the main objective of amending Section 951. Carnevale (1999) indicated Congress proposed the changes, which would allow colleges and universities to disclose disciplinary proceedings when a student has committed a violent crime, in order to decrease crime on college campuses. Parental influence and even interference can benefit both the student and the college or university when a student's behavior affects the campus environment. The amendment will also be used to eliminate violent crimes on campuses.

#### Section 952

In an effort to lower or eliminate alcohol-related incidents, such as binge drinking deaths, fights, and sexual assaults, Congress passed the 1998 amendment 952 regarding substance abuse (Carnevale, 1999). In *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, Bonnie Hurlburt, Dean of Students at Radford University, agreed with this response. She stated, "... we were so concerned about alcohol as a serious health and safety risk that we felt it was incumbent upon us to do something to turn it around" (Reisberg, 1998). Likewise, LeRoy Rooker, Director of the Family Policy Compliance Office at theDepartment of Education stated, "[alcohol abuse] is very serious out there around the country, and there's a need to involve the parents" (as cited in Carnevale, 1999). With the option of notifying a student's parents, it is anticipated that alcohol-related incidents on campuses will decline.

#### UNIVERSITIES' RESPONSE

With the new changes in effect, many higher education institutions are in a dilemma. Many policies must be altered to serve both the best interests of the students as well as the college or university. Higher education institutions are implementing various approaches to comply with the new laws.

#### **Implemented Policies**

The University of Delaware, among the first institution to implement the new amendments, is looked to as a model for other universities as they interpret new policies. According to Reisberg (1998), the University of Delaware notifies parents when their student has violated any campus policy. In conjunction with this, the University also implemented a zero-tolerance rule which includes suspending or expelling a student after three alcohol violations (Reisberg, 1998). Other more flexible approaches to notifying parents of student behavior exist. For example, according to a memorandum written by Keith M. Miser, Vice President of Student Affairs (personal communication, April 23, 1999), Colorado State University will continue to treat students as adults while maintaining a safe campus environment. The University feels an important part of student development is making the transition into adulthood, which includes taking responsibility for one's own actions. However, under certain circumstances, such as serious incidents associated with substance abuse, the University realizes the importance of parental involvement. Unlike the University of Delaware, Colorado State University will not send letters home every time a student violates school policy. Instead, parents will be notified by a personal phone call in instances where the student's behavior interferes with his or her safety or that of other students on campus. Parental notification will also be given if the behavior is ongoing and may result in suspension or expulsion from the University. In regard to violent crimes or sexual offenses, the University may release the outcomes of University Disciplinary Hearings. Colorado State University's interpretation of and approach to the amendments focuses on notifying parents whose children participate in high-risk behavior.

Other universities are implementing similar approaches to Colorado State University. The University of Radford will notify parents of financially dependent freshmen when they are disciplined for a drug violation or a major alcohol offense, or two minor ones (Reisberg, 1998). Likewise, George Washington University will only notify parents if the problem is a public issue or is a severe violation of campus policy (Carnevale, 1999). According to Reisberg (1998), Virginia Tech sends letters home to parents upon a student's probation or suspension.

#### Results

Timothy F. Brooks, Dean of Students at the University of Delaware, believes notifying parents when their child has violated a campus policy is working well (Reisberg, 1998). Following the initial implementation of notifying parents, "the students' recidivism rate has plummeted" (as cited by Reisberg, 1998). Dr. Brooks further explains that the conversations being held between parent and child are assisting in decreasing future infractions (Reisberg, 1998).

Although the system at the University of Delaware seems to work, some administrators do not feel it is the responsibility of the institution to notify parents of

their children's actions. Rather, the students should take responsibility to communicate with their parents without involving the institution. It should also be noted that, according to Gus Kravas, Vice Provost for Student Affairs at Washington State University, "the vast majority of our students are respecting and law-abiding citizens" (Reisberg, 1998).

#### UNIVERSITIES' CONCERNS WITH AMENDMENTS

Other administrative concerns regarding the new amendments have arisen. Some administrators are worried that universities will be held more liable now that the responsibility is on them to release the requested information. In the past, universities could use FERPA as justification for not releasing student records, especially when handling a state's Open Records Law. A memorandum written by Donna W. Aurand, Associate Legal Counsel at Colorado State University, explains with the recent amendments in place, universities now have a legal responsibility to choose to disclose student information (personal communication, January 20, 1999). In *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, Gus Kravas stated, "not only do we have to consider what's in the best interest of the students, but now we have to ask ourselves whether we have a legal duty to notify parents" (as cited by Reisberg, 1998). A legal duty has been placed on the colleges and universities and it is the responsibility of each college and university to manage and implement law abiding policies, meanwhile, continuing to protect students.

Administrators and students are opposed to the new amendments for various reasons. Many of them believe that notifying parents can do more harm than good (Reisberg, 1998). Parents may be so upset with their child, that they withdraw that student from the college or university. Other parents may side with their child and initiate a legal battle with the college or university. In *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, Andrea R. Goldblum, Director of Judicial Affairs at the University of Colorado in Boulder, states, "we have parents who help their students learn the norms and expectations, and then we have parents who hinder the process by trying to get their students off" (Reisberg, 1998). She believes some parents will argue that their son or daughter did not commit the violation and could threaten to sue the university. Other administrators believe the changes in the Act will now give the public a reason to monitor universities and their behavioral problems (Parents and Student Conduct, 1999). At this time, the implications of the amendments are not certain.

#### ALLOWING STUDENTS TO DEVELOP

Student affairs professionals realize development occurs in many ways. Therefore, educating policy-makers about the student development process is crucial. For example, explaining the process in which autonomous decision-making enhances a student's development will affect how administrators view parental involvement. It

is also likely that policy-makers do not realize, "development occurs as individuals respond to novel situations and tasks that challenge their current level or capacity" (Strange, 1994, p. 405). With this knowledge, policy-makers would make more informed decisions.

Hopefully, with the assistance of student affairs professionals, administrators will realize the implications of calling a student's parents when the student has violated a policy. Although this realization will be "through the lens" of a student, it is important for administrators to realize the potentially damaging effects their policies could create. In order not to deny a student the opportunity to develop, student affairs professionals must respond to the challenge of educating administrators about student development.

#### CONCLUSION

The various changes made to the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, have granted more discretion to colleges and universities disclosing of educational records. These changes are affecting colleges and universities, students, and their parents. With more responsibility given to institutions of higher education, it is now the duty of the institutions to properly apply the amendments, and at the same time, protect a student's well being. The university has the discretion to create policies and procedures to follow when disclosing educational records and student information. The role of policy-makers is to seek knowledge regarding the development of students. Student affairs professionals must be part of the policy-making decisions in order to share their knowledge regarding student development.

Implementing FERPA's new amendments has not and will not be an effortless challenge. However, it is important to remember the original intent of FERPA, which is protecting students' right to privacy.

#### REFERENCES

- Family Educational Rights and Privacy, 34 C.F.R Part 99, Volume 64 Department of Education, (1999).
- Carnevale, D. (1999, June). Education department proposes guidelines for changes in law on student privacy. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved June 7, 1999 from the World Wide Web: http://www.chronicle.com/daily/99/06/99060301n.htm
- Lowery, J. (1994). Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act. ASJA.

  Retrieved September 19, 1999 from the World Wide Web:

  http://165.91.98.33/about/ferpa.htm
- Parents and Student Conduct. (1999, March 15). Syntex, p. 828.

- Reisberg, L. (1998, December). When a student drinks illegally, should colleges call mom and dad? *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved June 7, 1999 from the World Wide Web: http://www.chronicle.com/weekly/v45/il5/15a03901.htm
- Strange, C. (1994). Student development: The evolution and status of an essential idea. *Journal of College Student Development*, 35. p. 405.
- Wechsler, H. (1998, November). Getting serious about eradicating binge drinking. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved September 19, 1999 from the World Wide Web: http://www.chronicle.com.html

Lisa Campos ('01) is a graduate student in the Student Affairs in Higher Education program at Colorado State University. Her assistantship is working in the Office of the Vice-President for Student Affairs.

# Enhancing the Physical Interior Environment of the Workplace: Tips for Student Affairs and Higher Education Administrators

Stephanie Clemons, Ph.D.

This article offers some tips for student affairs and higher education administrators concerning the appropriate design of interior spaces. Issues such as implementing "universal design", developing functional space plans, encouraging a "sense of place", specifying lighting, and utilizing ergonomic furnishings are discussed.

#### INTRODUCTION

Higher education administrators make ongoing, multiple decisions concerning the physical workplace environment on a campus. Administrators are asked for their input and many times make decisions concerning interiors of both public spaces, such as student centers, as well as private spaces, such as residence halls. Furthermore, many administrators influence the reconfiguration and design of campus office space.

Although campus facility departments offer guidelines on space allocation within a building, based on state and/or federal regulations, and purchasing departments provide expertise in bidding and ordering furnishings and equipment, there is an occasional gap in the decision-making process. Administrators find they need advice concerning use of a given space to enhance its productivity as well as the evaluation of light, color, and materials to enhance its function and aesthetics. In addition, more and more administrators are becoming aware of issues concerning territorialism and the need for privacy in the office, as well as the desire to reflect the inclusive, cultural sensitivity of their campus in interior spaces.

This article discusses a number of interior design issues specifically within the workplace and offers tips for student affairs and higher education administrators. The workplace or office environment was selected because appropriate design in these spaces can enhance effective communication, increase productivity, encourage teamwork, and improve morale (The Impact of Interior Design, 1997). The office environment can be found on campuses in general buildings such as administration and libraries as well as in student buildings including financial aid and admissions.

#### **BACKGROUND**

To understand the contemporary work environment, one must examine its origins. The office began in the home. Prior to the Industrial Revolution in the second half of the 18<sup>th</sup> century, most offices were found in royal households and in residences belonging to merchants and artisans (Smith, 1987).

At the turn of the nineteeth century, an Industrial Revolution management style prevailed and the office environment shifted from the home or farm to the industrial factory (Cutler, 1993). In the latter part of the nineteeth century, technology intervened with the invention of the elevator and with advances in building construction methods such as the use of steel and concrete (Heyer, 1993). With the invention of the elevator, the office shifted into high rise buildings for the first time and the "modern" office arrived – removed from both the home and the industrial factory (Kleeman, et al., 1991).

The concept of an office evolved throughout the twentieth century. However, it was not until the 1980's that office design shifted from a product economy, with the office team supporting the production of a tangible item, to an information society in which information was the commodity for trade or sale (Herman Miller, Inc., 1993). New technologies, such as the laptop computer, facsimile machines, and Internet connections impacted the office with the appearance of monitors, importance of telephone/wiring access, and artificial lighting issues connected with glare. However, these same technologies made the process of work less expensive, more flexible, and geared to employees at all levels of responsibilities.

Today, the incessant use of information technology has stimulated increasing pressures of time and urgency because we can communicate with one another instantly and often in a global level (Heerwagen, 1996). With continued improvement in computer and telecommunications technology, information work is virtually location-independent. Many people now work effectively in their cars, from their homes, or virtually anywhere they are provided with the high-tech tools needed to perform their specific tasks (Kleeman, et al., 1991). As in the corporate world, employees in higher education literally take their office to administrative or committee meetings.

Today, in order to offer mobility and flexibility in the workplace, the trend continues to be to tear down permanent office walls and trade freestanding furniture for open office systems with panels and modular furniture. Modular furnishings can be hooked onto freestanding panels in multiple configurations. Panel systems continue to grow in popularity not only because they provide increased flexibility, but they also reduce costs and improve space utilization. These systems make it easier to

meet changing needs for individuals, teams, and departments (The Impact of Interior Design, 1997).

However, challenges exist with the use of panel systems. As accessibility and flexibility improve, the need for privacy increases. In addition, difficulties arise with acoustics and efficient lighting. The current trend of home offices indicates a circular evolution back to the house. The Home Office Association of America reported that approximately 41 million people work at home, about 42% of the working population (Slaughter, 1996). Primary reasons involve technological advances and the need for privacy to accomplish tasks. Despite these challenges, many campus buildings have been remodeled to encourage the use of panels in open office systems.

Ways to address some of these technological issues in the office environment are effective space planning to enhance communication, "creating a sense of place," and specifying ergonomic furnishings. In addition to addressing new challenges in the office due to technology issues, there are also those that relate to human and cultural needs, such as implementation of universal design and effective use of color and light. Following, each of these design solutions will be discussed in some detail. Although not a comprehensive list, attention to these fundamental design criteria may enhance the quality of life for staff and students alike.

#### TIPS FOR WELL DESIGNED OFFICE SPACES

#### **Effectively Plan Interior Spaces**

Productivity is a vital issue in corporate America. Since staff productivity often is measured in tasks and accountability, student affairs and higher education administrators need to analyze how, when, and where individual employees and teams perform their job responsibilities. Access, comfort, privacy, noise reduction, and flexibility need to be consciously designed into the finished space (The Impact of Interior Design, 1997).

When evaluating a new space or assessing the redesign of an existing space, it is critical to generate diagrams to determine effective communication flow within the organization. This technique can track office activities, paper-flow routes, filing systems, furniture/equipment allocations, and verbal exchanges to ensure workflow and communication efficiency (Kilmer & Kilmer, 1992). For example, several years ago, Enrollment Services at Colorado State University consolidated many of their offices and staff into one building. Conceptually, they wanted to achieve a "one-stop shopping" service center for their students. Time was taken to evaluate communication flow within specific, and between adjoining, departments. Many changes were made concerning adjacencies of individual workstations as well as access to administrators and resources specific to identified tasks. Student affairs

and higher education administrators can reduce employee frustration and staff inefficiencies by assessing these types of workplace characteristics.

#### Encourage a "Sense of Place"

In addition to the effective planning of work spaces to enhance communication channels, the environment should offer a "sense of place" to staff and students. A "sense of place" is a theory of interconnectedness or belonging to an environment, and security within it. "Sense of place" refers to a person's experience in a particular place and how he or she feels about it (Steele, 1981). When people can control, use, modify, and personally mark a space, they feel an attachment, commitment, and responsibility for it, which is the basic premise of territorialism (Steele, 1981).

Many factors in the work environment conspire against a sense of place or place-making. For example, rapid changes in technology and telecommunications decrease connectedness and identity to the immediate environment. Campus administrators can enhance place-making by encouraging professional personalization of workspaces. Photographs of significant family members, a postcard from a recent vacation, or other memorabilia that personally marks an individual's work environment assists in creating a sense of place.

Similar to sense of place created in the work environment, students unconsciously look for place making on campus. The campus physical environment, as a place, provides a powerful, informal setting for students to learn about different cultural values (Banning, 1999). The recognition of people and cultural identity, or how a place reflects the culture of those who use it, is important in the office environment as well. An area that evokes a message of inclusiveness through the appropriate use of signage, accessories, and accessibility, whether in general public spaces or in an individual's work environment, will offer a safe and familiar place for both students and staff.

#### **Specify Ergonomic Furnishings**

One tip for higher education administrators is the specification of ergonomic furnishings. Ergonomics is the study of relationships between human beings and their function in the environment. Comfort relates to the way furniture accommodates the human body. Human beings differ in shape, size, and age, producing a wide range of anthropometric dimensions (Kilmer & Kilmer, 1992). Comfort levels can vary due to differences in size and proportion of the body. The most important piece of furniture in the office is the desk chair. Although they can be one of the most expensive pieces of office equipment, with prices ranging from \$750-\$1,500/chair, their self-adjusting attributes can properly support the body in a variety of working positions and increase comfort levels. Ergonomically designed furnishings reduce

absenteeism, increase morale, and prevent medical injuries (The Impact of Interior Design, 1997).

#### **Practice Universal Design**

A concept referred to as "universal design," offers a design solution for multiple users of the work environment – young or old, physically challenged or physically fit. Universal design refers to designing all products, interior and exterior, to the greatest extent possible without the user appearing different or special, regardless of the product. The American with Disabilities Act (ADA) is just a small part of this movement. Accessibility, adaptability, affordability, aesthetics, and safety are characteristics of its features, products, or structural elements (Mace, Hardie, & Place, 1991).

When designing the campus work environment, it is critical to remember the age range of both staff and students. By the year 2050, the United States census is expected to reveal 67 million or 22 percent of the nation's population will be 65 years or older (Davis & Beasley, 1994). Loss of mobility, color perception, and eye acuity are but a few of the challenges for the aging individual. For example, loss of mobility can affect a person's capabilities in the office a number of ways. Pulling out the bottom file drawer, typing on computers, turning knobs on machinery or opening heavy doors, as well as safely navigating floor level changes (steps, ramps, or daises) are common challenges. Yet the physical challenges for an aging individual can be the same for a pregnant woman or a portly gentleman. Implementing an appropriate design for the aging individual in the office can improve the quality of life for people of all age ranges.

Through the ADA, many student affairs and higher education administrators have become aware of the issue of accessibility. However, proponents of universal design request an additional sensitivity in creating interior spaces that provide a better physical environment for all people.

#### **Evaluate Use of Color and Light**

Two of the most powerful elements of design are color and light. They can enhance the aesthetics and function of a campus office. Research studies reveal that color affects the brain, nervous system, and hormonal activity. Response to color is both psychological and physiological (Mahnke & Mahnke, 1987). Likewise, light not only provides adequate illumination and a pleasant visual environment, but also affects the human organism psychologically and emotionally.

It is common knowledge that in interior environments, color sets the mood and establishes an image. However, the way a person interprets or feels about a color can vary according to their experiences, education, and cultural association. Color association, or symbolism, generally is based on a person's individual personality or

cultural background. For example, in Western cultures, black generally symbolizes death and mourning, whereas in eastern civilizations, the symbolic color of death is white (Kilmer & Kilmer, 1992). Sensitivity to color usage and cultural meanings portrayed by colors in office space can enhance a positive image within a campus environment.

Critical tasks are performed in any campus office. So efficient light is key in preventing accidents and ensuring accuracy of details. Quality electric light that is flexible (e.g. portable or adjustable) also improves productivity since the human eye fatigues as the day wears on. An individual's eyesight also decreases as they age and the muscle of the eye loses elasticity (Gordon, G. & Nuckolls, J. L., 1995). Therefore, aging eyes become easily fatigued and details of critical tasks become more difficult to read. To compensate, design of the office should include not only general light in the ceiling for common tasks, but light at specific work stations that can be increased as the eye fatigues. Flexibility in lighting design installations can assist those of all ages.

Research also indicates that people need to be aware of the passing of time. Therefore, daylight, or access to a window to see seasons change and a day shift to night is a critical component in the office environment (Steffy, 1990). With daylight, however, comes the challenge of glare, or misplaced light. Use of computers in the office has caused glare to become a common enemy. Because light travels in a straight path, moving the computer or task surface perpendicular to the daylight can resolve the problem. Lighting, both natural and artificial, must be coordinated with furniture placement and people performing the task.

#### CONCLUSION

The challenge of recruiting and retaining qualified employees is becoming increasingly difficult. Recent research indicates that the physical workplace environment plays an important role in decisions about accepting or leaving a job. The physical workplace impacts comfort, access to people, as well as privacy and flexibility (Recruiting and Retaining, 1999).

Interior space on a campus stands at a premium. Understanding how technology changes impact the way work is being accomplished and how to effectively design interior spaces in their buildings may help student affairs and higher education administrators use allotted square footage more efficiently.

Student affairs and higher education administrators are busy. They are concerned about creating an ethical environment (Anderson & Banning, 1998) and building residence hall communities to enhance the individual (Noeldner, 1998). They evaluate how to prepare new professionals (Binard, 1999) and how to respond to

off-campus misconduct (Dicke & Wallace, 1999). Time is at a premium. In addition, assessing the nearby work environment and taking action to improve it requires time and money. However, good design rarely necessitates any more financial resources than poor design. Realizing that as a nation, citizens spend over 80 percent of their time in interior spaces, good design seems a small price to pay to improve morale, increase productivity, address psychological and physical needs, as well as offer a physical environment that is inclusive and attractive.

#### REFERENCES

- Anderson, S. K. & Banning, J. H. (1998). Creating an ethical environment: A journey looking for a roadmap. *Journal of Student Affairs*, 7, 26-34.
- Binard, K. (1999). Student affairs in higher education: How are we preparing new professionals? *Journal of Student Affairs*, 8, 104, 112.
- Cutler, L, M. (1993, October). Changing the paradigm: Is it workplace or work environment of the future? *Proceedings of the International Facility Management Association*, Denver.
- Davis, T. D., Jr. & Beasley, K. A. (1994). Accessible design for hospitality: ADA guidelines for planning accessible hotels, motels and other recreational facilities. (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.). New York: McGraw Hill, Inc.
- Dicke, L. L. & Wallace, W. (1999). Responding to off-campus misconduct. *Journal of Student Affairs*, 8, 34-46.

  Heerwagen, J. (1996, June). Naturalizing the workplace of the future:
- Heerwagen, J. (1996, June). Naturalizing the workplace of the future: Technology, ecology, and place. *Proceedings of the International Facility Management Association*, Denver.
- Heyer, P. (1993). American architecture. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Kilmer, R. & Kilmer, W. O. (1992). Designing interiors. Orlando: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, Inc.
- Kleeman, W. B. Jr., Duffy, F., Williams, K. and Williams, M. (1991). Interior design of the electronic office: The comfort and productivity payoff. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Gordon, G. & Nuckolls, J. L. (1995). *Interior lighting for designers* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Mace, R., Hardie, G. J., and Place, J. P. (1991). Accessible environments:

  Toward universal design. In W. Preise, J. Wischer, & E. T. White

  (eds.). Design intervention toward a more humane architecture. New

  York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Mahnke, F. H. & Mahnke, R. H. (1987). Color and light in man-made environments. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Herman Miller, Inc. (1993, January). Making a place, bridging the physical and the poetic. Holland, MI.

- Noeldner, T. (1998). Building residence hall communities to enhance the individual. *Journal of Student Affairs*, 7, 44-49.
- Recruiting and retaining qualified employees by design (1999). American Society of Interior Designers, Washington, D. C.
- Slaughter, P. (1996). Two new stores in Dallas focus on home office. Furniture/Today, 20, (41), 4, 33.
- Smith, C. R. (1987). Interior design in twentieth century America: A history. New York: Harper & Row, Publishers, Inc.
- Steele, F. (1981). The sense of place. Boston: CBI Publishing Company, Inc.
- Steffy, G. R. (1990). Architectural lighting design. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- The impact of interior design on the bottom line (1997). American Society of Interior Designers: Productive Solutions, Washington, D. C.

Stephanie Clemons, Ph.D., Associate Professor has been teaching interior design for eleven years in the Department of Design and Merchandising at Colorado State University. She is very interested in student affairs and administration issues.

# Organizational Illuminatus: The Effects of Major Exigency at Colorado State University

Mark S. Denke, Ed.D. and Ray F. Gasser

As a large residential land-grant university, Colorado State University serves as a second home for many students, faculty, and staff. Although the prediction of specific campus exigency is impossible, "organizational illuminatus" (The Jargon Dictionary, 1996) requires the use of reframing in providing maximum preparation for responding to campus exigency, coordinating accurate internal and external communication, and preparing for post crisis support, evaluation, and resolution.

#### INTRODUCTION

Campus exigency can happen at any time, on any campus. Developing effective response procedures is critical to reacting to any potential crisis. However, sometimes it is difficult to foresee and plan for every possible incident. Given the unpredictability of crisis, administrators develop guiding principles and policies and test planned responses in order to adequately address campus emergencies. Using examples from Colorado State University, one can begin to explore how student affairs administrators identify, prepare for, and react to campus emergency.

Over the past three years, several incidents challenged Colorado State University to employ creative approaches to "organizational illuminatus" (The Jargon Dictionary, 1996) for all of the affected populations. By highlighting the aftermath of the devastating floods that decimated the campus and community, the riots by Colorado State students in the nearby community, the reaction to the death of Matthew Sheppard, and the Columbine tragedy, this article will provide examples of response mechanisms for other institutions of higher education to reference when addressing similar exigency.

These institutional responses seek to provide some sense of normalcy and security to students, faculty and staff in very unstable and tragic times. After discussing the variety of exigencies that Colorado State University overcame, the article will offer some conclusions utilizing various frames of organizational behavior.

#### THE 500 YEAR FLOOD

On July 28, 1997, a tremendous 500 year flood devastated many areas of the Colorado State University campus and significant sections of the Fort Collins community. A 500 year flood is one that has a 1 in 500 chance of occurring in any given year. It is not a flood that occurs every 500 years (Fetrow, 2000). The flood destroyed the lower level of the CSU Lory Student Center and the recently renovated Morgan Library. In addition, more than sixteen other campus buildings suffered damage. This crisis resulted in the most impressive organizational response in Colorado State University history (Grigg, et al., 1998). While the University had developed an Emergency Operations Plan (Colorado State University, 1998) prior to the flood, the exigency of the flood exceeded most other emergencies. The flood caused damage totaling over \$100 million, including "building damages, about 425,000 library volumes inundated, loss of a semester's textbooks in the bookstore, and many other losses, both personal and professional" (Grigg, et al., 1998).

While the flood occurred prior to the regular academic year, it did affect both a youth conference with 3,500 participants and approximately 800 summer school session students. Facilities Operations, in conjunction with the Office of Conference Services, instituted an emergency management team to deal with the crisis. At the same time, the flood recovery committee identified the top five immediate priorities which included "protecting health and safety, responding to personal and professional losses of staff and faculty, resuming classes as soon as possible (the University only missed about two days of the summer term), cleaning and preparing for (and minimizing disruption to) the fall semester" (Grigg, et al, 1998).

During the first few days after the flood, Facilities pumped over five million gallons of water from flooded buildings and documented the extent of damage in each building. The Public Relations Office issued continuous and frequent press releases updating the public on the status of the University. The CSU web page as well as letters to incoming students assured them that the campus would be open on schedule in late August. While the flood made national and international headlines for a few days, state and local media continued to tell the stories of survival, rebuilding, and renewal for many subsequent months.

As displaced departments and faculty looked for temporary spaces for offices and classes, unaffected buildings and individuals opened their doors to support the "Can't Stop Us" campaign. This campaign became a rallying cry and source of motivation for the campus community as CSU worked to overcome this setback. One month after the flood, as the University opened in time for Fall Semester, there were still obstacles to overcome. Over the next two years, the campus rebuilt the damaged portions of the library and student center and salvaged thousands of books through a freeze drying process. Colorado State University opened to students on

time for fall semester as it remained united in disaster recovery. The efforts culminated two years later in the Fall of 1999 with the construction of a mitigation wall to protect the buildings from water flow in the future. To signify the impact of the flood, Colorado State University constructed a memorial and hung plaques marking the water level in the remodeled student center.

#### STUDENT RIOTING IN THE COMMUNITY

In early September, 1997, in Fort Collins' neighborhoods, two disturbances involving CSU students took place. "Police were called at around midnight for noise complaints in the area just north of the university campus. As police tried to break up the several parties in the area, some of the more than 500 people gathered. resisted and threw bottles and rocks. One large fire was started with debris in the street" (Milligan, 1997). The first incident resulted in the arrest of two students. Since the disturbances occurred off-campus within the jurisdiction of the Fort Collins Police Department, the CSU Police Department did not respond to the complaint. Therefore, the University's reaction differed from the other examples of exigency described in this article. The University quickly cooperated with the requests of Fort Collins Police as they conducted their investigation. The following weekend, after a repeated incident, the University increased its investigation by creating a 24-hour hotline "to accept tips from callers with knowledge about Colorado State students involved in either of the two incidents" (Milligan, 1997, p. 1). Dr. Keith Miser, Vice President for Student Affairs, and Mr. Steve O'Dorisio, President of the Associated Students of Colorado State University, responded to media inquiries and reiterated the University's cooperation with the City's investigation efforts.

Utilizing photographs and videotape of the incidents taken by the police and the campus newspaper, CSU administrators identified the primary participants in the riots and quickly responded with disciplinary action. The identified students were referred to the University judicial process, a separate system from the city criminal proceedings. Dr. Mark Denke, Assistant Vice President for Student Affairs, shared with the media that as a result of the discipline hearings three students were dismissed from the University and one student was placed on probation. In the article, Dr. Denke described the judicial process, as well as defined what the terms of the assigned sanctions (Milligan, 1997). At all times during the response, the University respected the students' privacy rights under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA).

#### THE MATTHEW SHEPPARD TRAGEDY AND AFTERMATH

"It was just a little before 8:00 p.m. on Tuesday evening, October 8, 1998... (when) Matthew Sheppard said goodnight and went to the Fireside Bar in Laramie on his way home. There he met Aaron McKinney and Russell Henderson, who during their

conversation led him to believe they were gay. Matthew later left the bar with McKinney and Henderson, was taken to a location several miles east of Laramie, and was robbed, severely beaten, tied to a buck fence, and left in sub-freezing temperatures" (Hurst, 1999, p. 5).

Five days later, Matthew Sheppard died in Poudre Valley Hospital in Fort Collins, Colorado. While Matthew was a University of Wyoming student, he considered himself a member of the Fort Collins Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual and Transgender (GLBT) community. The impact of Matthew's death was significant for students at Colorado State University. Some considered him a close friend. Others were shocked by the brutality and hatred that this senseless incident represented. Gay and lesbian students expressed fear for their own safety and considered being less open about their homosexuality.

At the same time, the University responded to a crisis that grabbed national attention. During Homecoming Weekend, members of the Pi Kappa Alpha fraternity and Alpha Chi Omega sorority built a float for the community parade that included a scarecrow with the word "I'm Gay" written on it. The very public incident was harshly criticized by the community. "This incident belies what we as an institution represent. This offensive act targeting members of our gay community goes against the very beliefs that we as a university cherish most" (Colorado State University, 1998, p. 1). The University identified the students involved and quickly took disciplinary action against them, resulting in similar outcomes as those from the riots.

The Colorado State University community responded by bringing students, staff, and faculty together to grieve, not only for Matthew Sheppard's death but also for the hate that this senseless act represented. CSU President Albert C. Yates issued a press release: "On behalf of the entire Colorado State University community, I wish to extend sincere and heartfelt condolences to the family of Matthew Sheppard, a young man whose life was guided by a belief in the inherent dignity and value of all people – and who, in his final hours, taught us much about the importance of caring for, learning from, and uplifting our fellow human beings" (Yates, 1998).

It was the actions of the newly created Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual, Transgender Student Services (GLBTSS) Office that provided the most support to the students most shocked by the murder of Matthew Sheppard. An office created only a few months prior to this tragedy, GLBTSS helped to organize a candlelight vigil in memory of Matthew Sheppard in the Sculpture Garden of the Lory Student Center. Hundreds of students, staff, and faculty attended the vigil. Anyone wanting to speak was offered an open microphone to express his or her sadness, anger, fear, or regret. Additionally, the GLBTSS office provided educational initiatives, including a speaker's bureau through the Student Organization for Gays, Lesbians and Bisexuals

(SOGLB). GLBTSS and the University Counseling Center worked together to help support grieving students who also were balancing the tragedy with a pending celebration of the National Coming Out Day events of October 11, 1998. In addition, community meetings were offered in the residence halls to develop proactive and educational strategies to discourage this scenario from occurring again.

#### COLUMBINE TRAGEDY

On April 20, 1999, the State of Colorado watched, horrified, as local television covered a shooting at Columbine High School in Littleton, Colorado. As quickly as students and staff at Colorado State University found out about this tragedy, the University offered immediate support and response for the hundreds of Columbine graduates who attended Colorado State University. Many students had a sibling, friend, or former teacher at Columbine High School and reacted with grief and a quest for answers. With unprecedented speed, and a sense of caring for the emotional impact on the campus, the University staff responded.

As the evening of the tragedy approached, the residence hall staff of Corbett Hall pulled resources together in order to organize a candlelight vigil for the Columbine students to share their grief, anger, and pain. What began as an effort to support the Columbine students residing in Corbett Hall, became the support of the students, staff, and faculty of Colorado State University, and then the support of the needs of a grieving community.

The University's Public Relations Office notified the media of the Corbett Hall vigil, as well as other efforts being organized on behalf of Colorado State University faculty and staff. The key players of the University discussed the events to respond with a unified effort. The University as the Registrar's Office and Housing and Food Services worked to identify students who might be affected by the tragedy. The University Counseling Center issued an all campus e-mail reminding staff, faculty, and students to utilize the services provided by its staff.

To do its part to encourage communication and expression of sympathy and regret, the Associated Students of Colorado State University set up "several banners for people to sign to send a message of hope to the high school, its students, and staff (Yates, 1999). The Lory Student Center Information Desk offered silver and blue memorial ribbons, the colors of Columbine High School, for several weeks until the end of the semester. The campus organized a blood drive, and a special web page was established to provide more detailed information on campus and community activities. Finally, the Colorado State University Foundation agreed to collect money to assist Columbine, the victims, and their families. On Friday, April 23, 1999 at 11:30 a.m. the university campus had a moment of silence to honor the victims and survivors of the terrible tragedy.

#### RESPONSES FROM AN ORGANIZATIONAL FRAMEWORK

Bolman and Deal (1991) identify four frameworks or paradigms present in any organization. It is important to look at the potential complications within an organizational framework in order to describe the response of Colorado State University evident in these four examples of campus exigency. The student affairs professional will be able to adapt these scenarios and institute their own campus protocol, by analyzing the Colorado State University response to campus exigency from the perspective of organizational behavior.

#### The Structural Frame

Bolman and Deal (1991) describe the structural frame as the way "structure develops in response to an organization's tasks and environment" (p. 119). Simply put, this frame is the formal organizational structure. Some important items to consider for any crisis from a structural framework include: capitalizing on the roles, talents, and skills of individuals within the department and/or institution; and reporting structure. A major task involves using these resources to eliminate some of the confusion during an emergency to facilitate an effective response.

#### The Human Resource Frame

This frame is more humanistic and collegial as it adds to the structural frame, "the interplay between organizations and people" (Bolman & Deal, 1997, p. 120). Basically, the framework describes people as being an organization's most critical resource. Some important considerations during a crisis include: identifying and meeting individuals' most basic needs, understanding the emotional and physical well being of individuals, and attention to others during crisis.

#### The Political Frame

Bolman and Deal sees this frame in terms of confronting issues directly, organizing coalitions, and managing conflict. The political frame "views organizations as 'alive and screaming' political arenas that house a complex variety of individual and group interests" (p. 186). Consideration during a crisis is due to the people united toward the organization's goals, everyone's knowledge and understanding of what and why they are doing what they are doing, scarcity of resources as a source of conflict during the crisis and getting the full story.

## The Symbolic Frame

The symbolic frame focuses on group culture and organized anarchy, placing more value on what something means than what is happening. "The symbolic frame seeks to interpret and illuminate the basic issues of meaning and faith that make symbols so powerful in every aspect of the human experience, including life in organizations" (Bolman & Deal, 1997, p. 244). Very symbolic activities during a crisis: the

meaning of symbols of support: ribbons, flags, vigils, the mourning processes, the tokens left behind as a reminder to the crisis: plaques, dedications, etc.

#### CONCLUSION

While planning and preparation can provide a basic path for an institution as it faces a crisis, no amount of planning can provide all of the answers for every scenario. In some instances, the institution will respond inadequately. However such instances serve as a benefit in that they fine-tune future strategies for administrators. The examples listed in the article provide good case studies for future administrators. Drawing from the exigency examples in this article, the following are recommended as key strategies for responding to any campus emergency.

- Communicate as much accurate information between departments, offices, and individuals within the university as soon as possible. During a time of exigency, the general public is interested in detailed information and the public demands information and sound bytes. It is important to accurately communicate with services and offices that can help respond to the crisis and for one person to serve as the spokesperson to communicate information to the media.
- 2. Solicit appropriate support services. Remember, an administrator is never alone in responding to the crisis. For example, a recent student death in Parmelee Hall at Colorado State University required Residence Life staff to collaborate with the campus police department, the County Coroner's Office, the Public Relations Office, the Counseling Center, the HELP/Success Center, as well as the Office of the Vice President for Student Affairs.
- 3. Mobilize the institution's resources and people. It is within the initial stages of any emergency that success will be outlined. Institutions should consider making organized plans for response to general emergencies. Individuals, offices, departments, and other constituencies should be able to work cooperatively with common goals. Essential elements of any plan should include the development of a mission, crisis team, communication procedures, and specific protocols.

Working within the organizational framework of a large university, student affairs administrators are required to consider the potential outcomes of any emergency, respond accordingly, and work together with the best interests of the students in mind. Exigency planning allows an organization to increase the effectiveness and immediacy of its response to victims, reduce the severity and duration of the crisis

to the campus community, reassure the campus, and protect the image of the institution.

Using common sense and experience to deal with organizational behavior problems can work under conditions where change is very slow, and where one has likely dealt with a similar situation in the past and learned from past mistakes. But the environment we have to deal with is increasingly diverging from such a pattern. We are confronting situations and problems we have not dealt with and are being asked to solve them more quickly and more skillfully than ever before.

#### REFERENCES

- Bolman, L. G., & Deal, T. E. (1991). Reframing organizations. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Colorado State University. (1998). Colorado State University Deplores Discriminatory Actions. [On-line]. Available: http://www.colostate.edu/Depts/PR/univstatement.html
- Colorado State University. (1998). Lessons of Recovery, Emergency
  Operations Plan [On-line]. Available:
  http://www.colostate.edu/floodrecovery/emergency-ops-plan.html
- Fetrow, D. (2000). Floodplains [On-line]. Available: http://www.ce.utexas.edu/stu/fetrowdd/floodp~1.htm
- Grigg, N. S., Doesken, N. J., Frick, O. M., Grimm, M., Hilmes, M., McKee, T. B., & Oltjenbruns, K. A. (1998). Fort Collins Flood 1997: Lessons from an Extreme Event. [On-line]. Available: http://www.colostate.edu/floodrecovery/extreme-event.html
- Hurst, J. C. (July-August 1999). The Matthew Sheppard tragedy: Management of a crisis. *About Campus*, 4, 5-11.
- Milligan, T. (1997, August 30). Colorado State, City Officials to Coordinate Following Incident. [On-line]. Available: http://www.colostate.edu/Depts/PR/releases/news/incident
- Milligan, T. (1997, September 8). Colorado State University Establishes

  Hotline to Identify Students Involved in Incidents Near Campus. [Online]. Available:

  http://www.colostate.edu/Depts/PR/releases/news/hotline.htm
- The Jargon Dictionary: Illuminatus! (Version 4.00, 24, July 1996) [On-line].
  Available:
  - http://www.netmeg.net/jargon/bibliography/illuminatus.html
- Yates, A.C. (1999, April 21). Open Letter to the University Community [Online]. Available: http://www.colostate.edu/Depts/PR/releases/news/csucares.html

Yates, A.C. (1998, October 12). Statement from Colorado State University President Albert C. Yates. [On-line]. Available: http://www.colostate.edu/Depts/PR/acystate.html

Dr. Mark S. Denke is the Assistant Vice President for Student Affairs and an Assistant Professor in the School of Education at Colorado State University. He teaches the Organizational Behavior course (HE676) in the SAHE Master's Program. Ray F. Gasser ('97) is the Complex Coordinator for Corbett Residential Complex at Colorado State University.

## Learning Communities: Past, Present, and Future

### Keith E. Edwards and Nick Sweeton

The authors of this article examine the history and philosophy of learning communities, the current research on the impact of these learning environments on students' academic achievement and retention rates, and conclude with the authors recommendations for creating or improving similar initiatives.

#### INTRODUCTION

Integrating student affairs and academic affairs is a hot topic in the field of higher education. Many professionals believe that an institution's mission can be better achieved by combining these two functional areas. Some institutions have already integrated the two areas into a single division (Altizer et al., 1996). Other institutions have attempted different methods to integrate the curricular and co-curricular experiences for students. One method is implementing academic learning communities in residence halls. In these communities, students live with other students in their academic discipline and are provided academic resources in the living environment (Rowe, 1981). Research has shown that this atmosphere indirectly increases students' academic success and persistence rates, as well as student satisfaction (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1981). This article will examine the history and philosophy of learning communities, current research on the impact of learning communities on academic success and retention rates, and conclude with the authors' recommendations for the future of learning communities on college and university campuses.

#### HISTORICAL CONTEXT

The earliest models of American higher education reflect the ideals of living and learning environments (Schroeder & Mable, 1994). English institutions such as Oxford and Cambridge, the models for American higher education, involved faculty members in almost every aspect of the collegiate experience. While faculty taught, as well as ate and socialized with the students, porters and other staff members managed discipline and other areas of student supervision. Early institutions of American higher education, such as Harvard, Yale, and Princeton, attempted to imitate this English model. However, these institutions did not have the resources to build facilities in which faculty would be interested in living. In addition, faculty in America had responsibility for all aspects of the student experience, including student supervision and discipline. This left few boundaries between the role of educator and authority figure.

American institutions, founded in the second half of the nineteenth century looked to German models of higher education (Schroeder & Mable, 1994). German universities focused almost entirely on teaching and research. Large research universities in America adopted this model and also viewed in-class education and research as completely separate from extracurricular activities and living arrangements. The German model was also adopted by the large land grant institutions that emerged from the Morrill Act of 1862 and the second Morrill Act of 1890.

Descriptions of the German model rarely included the word "learning." This lack of focus on student outcomes has been a recent criticism of American education at all levels. Recently, politicians, researchers, and educators have criticized the quality of undergraduate education in the United States (Cross, 1993). While separating student affairs from academic affairs helped make higher education more efficient at handling increased numbers of students, institutions now realize that it was not, in fact, the best for all students (Schroeder & Mable, 1994). Research increasingly illustrates the "importance of peer culture, active student involvement, the seamless nature of student experiences, and the need for new partnerships between academic and student affairs" (p. 12).

#### LEARNING COMMUNITIES

The research on the effectiveness of a traditional residence hall experience in contributing to academic success is inconclusive. As a result, residence hall staff have attempted to structure the living environment to effectively increase students' academic success (Pascarella, Terenzini, & Blimling, 1994).

Learning communities have varied purposes and structures. Rowe (1981) outlined six basic structures for such environments: special interest units, like-major units, units with noncredit classes and programming, units offering regularly scheduled classes, units with unique or experimental programs, and residential colleges. At the most basic level, special interest units group students according to a particular extracurricular interest, usually involving a faculty advisor with expertise in that area. Special interest units might focus on astronomy, athletics, arts, etc. Administrators organize like-major units more formally than the special interest units. Like-major units group students with the same major to increase peer academic support and structured assistance from the university in a concentrated academic area. Noncredit classes and programming units require a commitment from the student to be involved in a course or formal program, some noncredit classes or programming units might include: music ensembles, leadership studies, and wellness development. Units offering regularly scheduled classes organize students to add an additional aspect to the course. Faculty usually become highly involved in the programming and living aspects of the program, sometimes to the extent of living in a residence

hall. Some programs involve unique course offerings or experimental programs that require a residential aspect in order to be successful. Examples might include: community service/volunteerism units, language floors, or intense academic endeavors such as dramatic arts, writing, and theater production. The final method of structuring a learning community exists in the form of a residential college. Structured to resemble the Oxford residential model, residential colleges attempt to create an environment closest to a "mini-college." Residential colleges not only house students with similar interests, they also add a faculty involvement component, study groups and programs, extra-curricular activities, and tutorial programs (Rowe, 1981).

In 1967, learning communities emerged in the modern era of higher education (Centra 1967). At that time most residential communities consisted of separate male and female quarters with a commons area, which included dining, recreation, laboratory, offices, etc. Administrators attempted to make residence halls academic environments, rather than merely hotels on campus. However, evaluation attempts at the time showed no statistically significant impact of the programs on student perceptions of an intellectual or cohesive environment (Centra, 1967).

By the early 1970s learning communities of all kinds, including residential colleges, began to emerge all over the country. Many of these programs were developed to personalize the educational experience of students attending universities with swelling student populations (Schein & Bowers, 1992). In 1971, Taylor and Hanson looked at the impact of grouping engineering students together in a homogeneous living environment. The results of the study showed a significant cumulative increase in the achievement of the students in the program. The initial success of this initiative encouraged other practitioners to proceed with similar programs.

In 1974, DeCoster and Mable outlined what they called the "purpose and process" of residence education. They called for more than just providing a physical environment for students, but an educational environment as well. By designing a variety of structured environments to meet the diverse needs of students, institutions can better encourage holistic growth (DeCoster & Mable, 1974). Historically, residence hall staff members have claimed that merely by living in residence halls, students would experience more success. Housing departments now refer to their facilities as "residence halls" rather than "dorms" to emphasize that these facilities provide more than just places to eat and sleep. Housing facilities ideally have developed into learning environments. Many practitioners in higher education have attempted to verify the benefit of residence halls as educational tools by demonstrating their influence on a students' academic success as well as on retention and persistence. However, studies have led to inconclusive results in support of this hypothesis (Astin, 1973; Blimling, 1989; & Pascarella et al, 1993).

Magnarella (1975) conducted an evaluation of a learning community after its first year in existence at the University of Vermont. Magnarella, through discussions and a questionnaire, discovered that program students indicated a more positive experience in the areas of intellectual atmosphere, educational opportunities, extracurricular opportunities, and community spirit than did non-program students (Magnarella, 1975). In every aspect investigated, the program showed positive results. After four years, Magnarella returned to the program at the University of Vermont to re-examine the impacts of the program. The living arrangement continued to have a positive affect on the academic and intellectual quality of the student experience. This unique environment and faculty involvement added to the richness of the experience for the students (Magnarella, 1979).

In 1976, Madson, Kuder, Hartanov, and McKelfresh examined the impact of a learning community on student satisfaction. The program grouped students into living environments by their majors in the College of Forestry and Natural Resources at Colorado State University. Madson et al. found students to be more satisfied with the educational benefits of their environment and more positive about their student colleagues. In addition, the students became more aware of activities and organizations within their field and exhibited a higher level of participation in the out-of-class activities than other students (Madson et al., 1976). In a similar program at Auburn University, Schroeder and Griffin (1976) examined the grouping of engineering students. Researchers found evidence that the program had a positive impact on persistence rates in engineering, renewal rate to the residence halls, and academic achievement (Schroeder & Griffin, 1976).

Following the earlier success of the program with the College of Forestry and Natural Resources, Colorado State University created a similar program housing engineering students (McKelfresh, 1980). While the program did not show a statistically significant impact on grade point averages, students showed greater increases in satisfaction with their environment, the services and facilities provided by the University, and the connection to the College of Engineering than did similar students not involved in the program.

With evidence growing in support of learning communities, critics began to emerge in the late 1970s. Some critics claimed that brighter and more talented students would be more likely to be involved in learning communities thus impacting the validity of the research. In response to this criticism, Blimling and Hample (1979) studied the impact of living environments on grade point average across the spectrum of ability level, while controlling for the impact variance from ACT scores, gender, and previous grade point average. The programs showed a statistically significant positive impact on grade point average, even taking into account pre-existing factors. The evidence indicated that the program alone increased student

grade point average between .05 and .20 points for the quarter studied (Blimling & Hample, 1979).

Pascarella and Terenzini (1981) examined why learning communities seemed to increase student performance and satisfaction in a number of areas. Their research indicated that the structured learning environment did not directly influence students. However, the environments indirectly impacted students by increasing both the quantity and quality of interaction between students and faculty (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1981). Interactions between faculty and students directly impacted student academic success and satisfaction with their living environments.

In 1988, Clarke, Miser, and Roberts studied the impact of three different factors of student success and satisfaction: structure of the learning environment, faculty involvement, and academic themes. They found similar results to previous studies; students indicated higher levels of satisfaction with their facilities and program of study than students in traditional residential environments. For those students involved in the learning community, involvement in outside areas increased across the board, from study groups to attendance at parties (Clarke et al., 1988).

After the initial research showing the benefits of academic living units conducted between 1966 and 1978 (DeCoster, 1966; Madson et al., 1976; Ebbers and Stoner, 1972; Pounder, 1973; and Schelhas, 1978), investigators attempted to revisit the research and re-examine the benefits of such programs. This time focusing on women, Golden and Smith (1983) found the same positive benefits: academic atmosphere and intellectuality, involvement, emotional support, independence, order, and organization. In addition, the researchers found a decreased level of academic competition within the academic living unit and an increased level of academic cooperation compared to other living units. A similar decrease in social orientation also appeared for the learning community students; students not involved in a structured living environment seemed to "party" more. Research showed that less restrictive peer groups led to this finding (Golden & Smith, 1983).

Despite these studies, Schein and Bowers (1992) declared that the impact of learning environments on academic performance and retention remained unclear, due to a lack of control for pre-existing factors. This parallels the difficulties researchers had in determining the impact of residence halls in general.

In one of the most recent studies of learning communities, Pike, Schroeder, and Berry (1997) examined the impact of a freshman interest group, a learning community that included a first-year seminar. Their study found that the residential learning communities "did not improve students' academic achievement and persistence directly, but did indirectly improve students' success by enhancing their incorporation into college" (Pike, et al., 1997, abstract). Their study found a

significant positive impact in faculty-student interaction, social integration, and institutional commitment, while the academic achievement intercept was lower for the students in the program. The program had positively impacted students in three out of four critical factors in Tinto's conceptual model (Pike et al., 1997). According to Tinto (1993), the student will look to their academic and social integration, and if they are satisfied with both, the student will likely stay at the institution. Learning communities aim to integrate students socially and academically in all areas of the collegiate experience (Tinto, 1993). Researchers concluded that the program had an indirect impact on significantly higher levels of academic achievement and persistence (Pike et al., 1997).

#### **AUTHORS' RECOMMENDATIONS**

Based on current research available on learning communities, as well as Tinto's conceptual model of retention, the authors have three major recommendations for improving the quality and impact of learning communities. The authors recommend increasing interaction between faculty and students, strategically grouping students, and involving student assistants and mentors.

By creating classroom spaces in residence halls, either by building new facilities or reassigning existing space, colleges and universities can increase student and faculty interaction (Tinto, 1993). Students would then have a concrete means of associating their living environment with a learning environment. For example, a lounge could be reassigned as a classroom space, equipped with a white board, computer access, etc. While creating a functional classroom space, the importance of maintaining the informal environment that a lounge provides should not be overlooked. In such an environment, students tend to be more relaxed and comfortable, and in turn, they are more engaged in learning (Strange, 1994).

Colleges and universities can increase faculty and student interaction by housing interested faculty in apartments within the residence halls. This creates the faculty members' accessibility to students during evenings and nights, increasing the informal student-faculty relationship. For example, the night before a mid-term exam, the faculty member could very easily attend a study session in the residence halls. Faculty could also eat their meals with students in the on-campus dining centers, join them for social events, and engage in discussions outside of the classroom environment. The research discussed that increasing student-faculty interaction, both formally and informally, positively influences student persistence (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1981; Pike et al., 1997).

The authors' second recommendation for improving learning communities involves strategically grouping students, either by academic area or extracurricular interests. The authors would prefer that students be assigned by area of study or major in order

to allow for the distribution of academic information and resources to one single place. A first-year student who moves onto a floor consisting of students from the same major will immediately have something in common with other members of his/her floor community. In this environment, social connections will likely develop quickly. Administrators may place students into the same introductory class sections for their majors. As a result, they live with the same students with whom they have some of their classes. Therefore, students can simultaneously develop social and academic connections. When there is a test in one of these common classes, students can easily access classmates with whom they can study. The social pressure to perform academically will likely encourage more students to study, and as a result, grades will improve. Programs such as these have been successful at the University of Massachusetts at Amherst (J. Battista, personal communication, April 5, 1999).

While the authors clearly prefer grouping students by academic interest, they also recognize the importance of providing extracurricular interest groupings for students looking for a broader experience, engaging with students outside of their academic program of study. Students could request environments such as health and wellness, alcohol free, or language floors. Depending on the extracurricular interest grouping, having live-in faculty might still be warranted. In situations that do not lend themselves to faculty liaisons, developing a relationship with a university staff member with expertise in this area could be considered.

Finally, the authors recommend employing more student assistants and academic mentors in learning communities, in addition to resident assistants. Unlike a resident assistant, the focus of a student mentor would be solely academic. Upper-class mentors could reside on the floor, serve as teaching assistants in one of the common classes, and serve as academic aids to learning community students. Student assistants could hold study sessions before major exams and serve as general tutors to students in the living environment. The academic mentors would be available during times that the student study.

Resident assistants on these floors could focus on integrating academics into the cocurricular aspects of the learning community. For example, floor social programs could bring in professionals from the students' area of study to eat meals with the students. Floors could take excursions to places related to the students' major. For example, a floor of pre-med majors could take a trip to the morgue. This would be beneficial because it increases the integration of the students' academic and social experiences (Tinto, 1993).

In the learning communities of the future, other types of student assistants could help students with a variety of issues such as information technology, research, and writing. Students proficient with computers could become Information Technology Assistants and assist students with computer issues. These student assistants could

live in the residence halls and serve the residents who live in that hall. This would be beneficial for all involved; a resident gets prompt assistance from a peer who lives in their residence hall, and the student who provides the assistance gains consulting experience.

#### CONCLUSION

By taking a look at the history of higher education, the authors of this article feel that learning communities have developed from a philosophy prevalent early in American higher education. Today, universities are returning to this philosophy in an effort to create an integrated academic and co-curricular experience for students. In examining the data on learning communities, it has become clear that these environments have at least an indirect relationship with student academic success and faculty interaction. Based on this information, the authors have made recommendations for university administrators. Whether universities are creating new learning communities or looking to make existing programs more effective, the authors recommend increasing interaction between students and faculty members, strategically grouping students, and providing peer mentors and other student assistants.

#### REFERENCES

- Alitzer, A. (1996). A model for increasing collaboration between academic and student affairs. *College Student Affairs Journal*, 16, 56-61.
- Astin, A. W. (1973). The impact of dormitory living on students. *The Educational Record*, 54, 204-210.
- Bliming, G.S. (1989) A meta-analysis of the influence of college residence halls on academic performance. *Journal of College Student Development*, 30, 298-308.
- Blimling, G.S. & Hample, D. (1979). Structuring the peer environment in residence halls to increase academic performance in average-ability students. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 20, 310-316.
- Centra, J. A. (1967). Student perception of residence hall environments:
  Living-learning versus conventional units. Paper presented at the
  1967 American Personnel and Guidance Association Convention.
- Clarke, J., Miser, K. & Roberts, A. (1988). Freshman residential programs: Effects of living-learning structure, faculty involvement, and thematic focus. *Journal of College and University Student Housing*, 18, 7-13.
- Cross, K. P. (1993). Improving the quality of instruction. In Levine, A. (Ed.), *Higher learning in America:* 1980 2000. pp. 287-308. Baltimore and London: John Hopkins University Press.

- DeCoster, D. A. (1966). Effects of homogeneous housing assignments for high-ability students. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 9, 75-78.
- DeCoster, D. A. & Mable, P. (1974). Residence education: Purpose and process. In D.A. DeCoster & P. Mable (Eds.), *Student development and education in college residence halls* (pp. 41 54). Washington, D.C.: American College Personnel Association.
- Ebbers, L. H. & Stoner, K. L. (1972). Lorch house: Innovation in residence living. *The Journal of College and University Student Housing*, 2, 27-29.
- Golden, R. D. & Smith, D. A. (1983). Potential benefits of academic units in the college residence hall: An issue revisited. *The Journal of College and University Student Housing*, 13, 8-13.
- Madson, D., Kuder, J., Hartanov, T., & McKelfresh, D. (1976). Residential academic groupings: A program evaluation. *Journal of College and University Student Housing*, 6, 16-20.
- Magnarella, P. J. (1975). The University of Vermont's living-learning center:

  A first-year appraisal. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 16, 300-305.
- Magnarella, P. J. (1979). The continuing evaluation of a living-learning center. Journal of College Student Personnel, 20, 4-9.
- McKelfresh, D. (1980). The effect of living environments on engineering students. *Journal of College and University Student Housing* 16-18.
- Pascarella, E.T., Bohr, L., Nora, A., Zusman, B., Inman, P., & Desler, M. (1993). Cognitive impacts of living on campus versus commuting to college. *Journal of College Student Development*, 34, 216 220.
- Pascarella, E.T. & Terenzini, P.T. (1981). Residence arrangement, student/faculty relationships, and freshman-year educational outcomes. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 22, 147 156.
- Pascarella, E. T., Terenzini, P. T., and Blimling, G. S. (1994). The impact of residential life on students. In C. Schroeder & P. Mable (Eds.), Realizing the educational impact of residence halls (pp. 22-52) San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Pike, G. R., Schroeder, C. C. & Berry, T. R. (1997). Enhancing the educational impact of residence halls: The relationship between residential learning communities and first-year college experiences and persistence. *Journal of College Student Development*, 38 609-621.
- Pounder, D. (1973). Women's residence halls: Freshman, undergraduate or coed. Journal of the National Association for Women Deans, Administrators, and Counselors, 36, 125-129.

- Rowe, L.P. (1981). Environmental structuring: Residence halls as living learning centers. In G. Blimling & J. Shuh (Eds.), New Directions for Student Affairs: Increasing the Educational Role of Residence Halls (pp. 51-64). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Schein, H. K. and Bowers, P. M. (1992). Using living/learning centers to provide integrated campus services for freshmen. *Journal of the Freshman Year Experience*, 4, 59-77.
- Schelhas, C.L. (1978). Can Freshman residence halls be justified? *Journal of College and University Student Housing*, 7, 21-24.
- Schroeder, C. C. & Griffin, C. (1976). A novel living-learning environment for freshman engineering students. *Engineering Education*, 67, 159-161.
- Schroeder, C.C. & Mable, P. (1994). Residence halls and the college experience: Past and present. In Schroeder, C.C. & Mable, P. (Eds.). Realizing the Educational Potential of Residence Halls. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Strange, C. (1994). Student development: The evolution and status of an essential idea. *Journal of College Student Development*, 35, 399-412.
- Taylor, R. G. & Hanson, G. R. (1971). Environmental impact on achievement and study habits. *Journal of College Student Development*, 12, 445-454.
- Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition. (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.) Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Keith E. Edwards ('00) is a second-year Student Affairs in Higher Education graduate student. Nick Sweeton ('01) is a first-year Student Affairs in Higher Education graduate student. Both authors are currently Hall Directors at Colorado State University.

## The Legality and Constitutionality of Mandatory Student Fees: The Campus Climate for Student Organizations After *Rosenberger* and *Southworth*

## Andrew R. Feldman and Jennifer G. Roy

Mandatory student fees have perplexed campus administrators for years, and in 1999, the United States Supreme Court heard its first case on the subject in five years. Whether or not student fees can be used for organizations of a religious or political nature is uncertain, as is whether or not students can be forced to support student organizations with which they disagree ideologically. This article examines some of the issues surrounding the use of mandatory student fees to support student organizations on college campuses. The authors conclude with recommendations for student affairs administrators dealing with this complex issue.

#### INTRODUCTION

Student affairs administrators must be more aware than ever of the potential ramifications of student fee policies implemented at their institutions. Recent court decisions both support and prohibit the use of public universities' funds for student organizations of a political, ideological, or religious nature. In addition, courts have ruled both for and against students who object to their mandatory fees supporting student organizations with which they disagree. The importance of universities providing a marketplace of ideas can conflict with the protection of students' free speech rights, which include the rights not to speak or to support certain kinds of speech.

This article investigates some major legal cases that have influenced how student affairs administrators historically have managed mandatory student fees. An analysis of the current legal situation and its implications for the future follows. The first state-legislated bill enacted on student fee policy and its effects on Colorado State University are examined. Finally, the authors offer recommendations to help institutions of higher education determine the best strategy for addressing mandatory student fees.

#### LEGAL CASES

Conflicting opinions of various state and federal courts make it difficult to determine whether or not mandatory student fees are legal. More than forty major court

decisions address the issue (Johnson, 1997); four are discussed here. Two issues emerge that are paramount to a legal analysis: first, whether a public university may deny funding to certain student organizations because of their religious, political, or ideological nature; and second, whether university students may be required to fund through mandatory student fees those student organizations with which they disagree.

## Denying funds to political, ideological, or religious student organizations Tipton v. University of Hawaii (1994)

In 1994, the Ninth Circuit of the U.S. Court of Appeals heard the *Tipton* case. The University of Hawaii-Manoa refused to provide student fee funding to student groups of a religious nature. After funds were denied to four campus Christian groups, four students initiated a lawsuit against the University (Jaschik, February 16, 1994). The Ninth Circuit ruled for the administration, finding that the university had prohibited the use of public funding to promote a particular religious viewpoint, agreeing with the District Court's assertion that the students in religious groups had "no right to government-subsidized speech" (O'Neil, November 23, 1994).

The fee allocation system in place at the University of Hawaii did not prohibit distribution of student fees to all religious groups; funding was permitted for programs that "have a secular purpose and do not promote only one religion" (Jaschik, February 16, 1994), which lead to the denial for the four Christian groups in question. The Court relied on the Establishment clause of the First Amendment, in which government agencies are prohibited from establishing any semblance of a state-supported religion, in making its decision and did not feel their ruling would violate students' Free Exercise rights. The *Tipton* court did require the University to apply the policy justly and consistently.

## Rosenberger v. Rector and Visitors of the University of Virginia (1995)

Until 2000, the Rosenberger case was the most recent U.S. Supreme Court decision rendered on the policy of funding student organizations. Rosenberger, like Tipton, addressed the conflict a public university faces in funding religious student organizations. On one side, a state entity has a duty under the First Amendment to avoid establishing a religion. On the other side, the government may not inhibit the free exercise of religion or the free speech rights of students.

Rosenberger and other students at the University of Virginia founded *Wide Awake*, a campus publication with an acknowledged Christian perspective. At the time, there were approximately 15 other student publications, secular and non-secular, on campus, including daily newspapers, literary magazines, satirical journals, and others. Rosenberger sought funding from the Student Activity Fund, a pool of mandatory student fees collected to finance student organizations. Denied because of the religious nature of the magazine, Rosenberger appealed without success. He then sued to elicit funding for *Wide Awake* from the Student Activity Fund.

Virginia argued that, in funding a religious student organization, the University would be in violation of the Establishment Clause, while Rosenberger claimed the denial of free exercise of his religion. In a 5-4 decision, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled for the students; "the First Amendment rights of all students were protected as long as the [mandatory student fee money] was disbursed in a way that treated all ideologies as equally valid and deserving of support" (Blumner, 1998, p. A12). The legal basis for the decision rested on the Court's past findings that "governmental entities may neutrally supply benefits to religious organizations without violating the First Amendment prohibition against establishing a religion" (Case Summary, First Amendment Center). The Court found that by offering student fee money to student organizations, the University obligated itself to fund all groups; it could not distinguish between organizations based on their content or viewpoint in determining whether or not to fund them.

Another issue the case raised is the type of public forum created for the discussion of multiple views at the University of Virginia. The majority opinion wrote, "Once it has opened a limited forum, however, the State must respect the lawful boundaries it has set" (Rosenberger, 1995). By collecting mandatory student fees for the purpose of funding student organizations and clubs, the University had an obligation to treat equally all points of view, even religious ones. The First Amendment rights to freedom of speech, freedom of expression, and freedom to freely exercise one's religion seem to outweigh any possible violation of the Establishment Clause. Furthermore, the Court found the University was practicing unconstitutional viewpoint discrimination; U.S. Supreme Court Justice Kennedy wrote:

The viewpoint discrimination inherent in the university's regulation required public officials to scan and interpret student publications to discern their underlying philosophic assumptions respecting religious theory and belief. That course of action was a denial of the right of free speech and would risk fostering a pervasive bias or hostility to religion (Rosenberger, 1995).

## Requiring students to support student groups with which they disagree Smith v. Regents of the University of California (1993)

The University of California-Berkeley saw one of the earliest major court cases about student fees. The California Supreme Court considered the legality of mandating student fees when a student protested their distribution in 1981. At the time, the University required students to contribute \$12.50 in student fees per quarter. Various student clubs and organizations received the distributed money, 14 of which petitioner Smith identified as objectionable based on their political or ideological nature. The Court found the collection of fees for student activities constitutional, but a student objecting to the use of his or her fees for political or ideological activities was entitled to a refund of that portion of the fees. "[The]

burden on dissenting students' speech and associational rights in this case is real and substantial. Students are, in fact, forced to support causes they strongly oppose" (*Smith*, 1993, Section 10).

This case focused on the duty of a college or university to provide a marketplace of ideas, a concept the courts have generally supported (Court, Legislator, July 28, 1997; Ritter, 1997) and the right of students not to support speech with which they disagree. The *Smith* court found that students' constitutional rights must be upheld, for the First Amendment right to free speech includes the right not to speak (Hudson, February 4, 1998). Among higher education practitioners, dissent about mandatory student fees remains. UC-Berkeley constitutional law professor Jesse Choper said, "a student at a state university cannot be compelled, by a condition of being a student there, to pay student fees that go to support political or ideological beliefs that the student disagrees with" (Healy, September 4, 1998). In contrast, Wisconsin political science professor Donald Downs, although not in support of using mandatory student fees for political purposes, believes just as a publicly financed institution offers courses on a variety of ideological persuasions, so should it support different student groups (Healy, September 4, 1998).

#### Southworth v. Grebe (1998)

The Seventh Circuit of the U.S. Court of Appeals decided the *Southworth* (1998) case, brought by a group of students at the University of Wisconsin-Madison who protested their mandatory student fees paying for student groups with whose purpose the students disagreed. At the time, Wisconsin students paid \$32.03 per semester in student activities fees as part of their overall fees (Ritter, 1997). The sum was dispersed to various campus organizations, including some with political or ideological agendas. Southworth and two other students objected to the use of the student fees to pay for certain groups, including Wisconsin Public Interest Research Group; the Campus Women's Center; the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual Campus Center; and the International Socialist Organization (*Southworth*, Part I, Section C, 1998).

When the Court of Appeals ruled in favor of the students, the University of Wisconsin appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court, which granted certiorari for the 1999-2000 term. Southworth raises competing issues of a state institution's role in providing an arena for myriad ideas and a student's right not to fund speech that he or she does not support. The majority opinion in Southworth ruled that "funding groups that engage in political and ideological activities [is] not relevant to the school's educational mission" and that "the use of these mandatory fees violated free-speech rights" (Martyka, August 12, 1998). Mark Gallagher of the Pacific Legal Foundation, a group that argues compelled speech cases before the U.S. Supreme Court, said, "the university should not force students to fund viewpoints they disagree with; the university can still provide a forum to air different viewpoints" (Hudson, February 4, 1998).

The Court of Appeals' decision recommended the University institute an opt-out system to allow students to choose which student activities of a political or ideological nature to fund. Ted Crabb, Director of the Wisconsin Student Union, decried such a method as logistically difficult to implement and detrimental to student groups. Crabb stated, "If you go into a situation for dues check off, so that students check which student activities get funding, very few will get any funding" (Ritter, 1997, p. 27). However, the Court addressed only those student organizations engaged in political or ideological activities, not social or recreational clubs. "The appeals court pointedly did not strike down the university's use of student fees to support non-political organizations" (Healy, September 4, 1998).

Wisconsin's position reiterated the necessity of mandatory student fees to "promote the University's educational mission by providing opportunities for the free expression of diverse viewpoints on difficult and challenging issues" (Ritter, 1997, p. 27). In the Court of Appeals decision, both petitioners and respondents agreed that the First Amendment protects free speech on campus, "but the students do not ask that [the court] restrict the speech of any student organization; they merely ask that they not be forced to financially subsidize speech with which they disagree" (Southworth, Part I, Section C, 1998). What the First Amendment does not require is government subsidization of free speech. The Court ruled that the educational mission of the university, while important, did not "justify the compelled funding of private organizations which engage in political and ideological advocacy, activities, and speech" (Southworth, Part II, Section A, part 1, 1998).

#### LEGAL ANALYSIS

The courts provide conflicting guidelines regarding the use and constitutionality of mandatory student fees. The issue presents many constitutional concerns, including the free exercise of religion, the potential establishment of religion by a government entity, and the freedom of speech, which includes the freedom not to speak. While the *Tipton* (1994) court attempted to avoid excessive entanglement by the government in religion, the *Rosenberger* (1995) majority found that it was more detrimental to deny the free exercise and free speech rights of the students publishing a campus magazine with an acknowledged Christian perspective. Both cases made determinations on the use of student fees for religious organizations on campus, and both universities sought to uphold the Establishment clause. In seeking legal direction, student affairs administrators should follow the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Rosenberger* (1995), which protected the First Amendment rights of all students, since it takes precedence over the lower courts' decisions.

On November 9, 1999, the U.S. Supreme Court heard *Southworth*; the ruling could prohibit a public college or university from requiring students to pay fees that support ideological and political viewpoints with which they disagree. Since student

activities fees pay for a wide number of student organizations with varying or no political and ideological persuasions, the university argued that all viewpoints are treated equitably. Southworth and the other complainants maintained that having to pay for any perspective objectionable violates the First Amendment. A ruling is expected in the spring of 2000. Given the current court's composition, some believe the lower court ruling will be upheld (Greenhouse, 1999; Schmidt, 1999). If that is true, student activities coordinators must prepare to offer students a method of withdrawing their support from so-called "controversial" groups if they wish.

An analysis of the mandatory student fee cases must also consider the nature of an open forum on campus. When a university permits and even promotes the expression of various ideas, must it support financially all forms of speech, including that of a political and religious nature? Some legal cases support the funding, while others stress the need for the state to remain uninvolved. The marketplace of ideas, so vital to the nature and purpose of a college or university, demands open discussion of ideas; in question is whether students or the government are required to fund such activity. Courts have ruled that state agencies are not responsible for financing the freedom of expression, but must ensure an open forum is protected when created.

#### THE WELLS BILL

Colorado Senate Bill 97-028 (1997), known as the Wells Bill, took effect in the state of Colorado on July 1, 1997. The first state-legislated bill in the nation to specifically address mandatory student fees, the legislation directs and empowers the Colorado Commission on Higher Education (CCHE) to create specific policies for all Colorado public colleges and universities that charge mandatory student fees. The legislature created the bill "to consider students' opinions concerning the amount assessed in fees and the purposes for which the institution uses the revenues received" (SB 97-028, 1997). The bill mandates Colorado institutions of higher education to adopt policies regarding the definition, assessment, and allocation of student fees. The Wells Bill requires an itemization of any general student fee on the student billing statement and the refund of any automatically assessed optional fees or charges, upon request, to any student who paid the fee. In addition, institutional plans must define the student fee proposal and approval process, establish procedures for student participation in determining student fees, and create a complaint resolution process for disputes on student fee proposals or any issues relating to student fees (Revised Institutional Plan, 1997).

#### STUDENT FEE APPEALS

Colorado State's "Revised Institutional Plan for Student Fees and Charges" allows a student to file a complaint or to request a waiver for a specific student fee by submitting a request to the appeals officer in the Office of the Vice President for Student Affairs. The decision of the appeal officer is deemed final (Revised Institutional Plan, 1997). The only currently optional fee at CSU is for the Colorado Public Interest Research Group (COPIRG); students can request a refund during the telephone registration process, by a check-off on the student bill, or directly from the COPIRG office on campus (Revised Institutional Plan, 1997).

In 1998, the Associated Students of Colorado State University (ASCSU), the student government association, funded over eighty clubs and organizations from the student activities fee of \$7.40 per semester. ASCSU's blanket policy is to deny funding to student groups and organizations with religious, ideological, or political agendas. However, the Colorado Student Association (CSA), self-identified as a political lobbying group and currently receiving student fee monies, could present a potential controversy. CSA is considering identifying itself as an "educational" organization rather than as a lobbying group as a result of some students' demands that CSA not be granted fee money. No student yet at Colorado State University has requested a student fee waiver. However, as recent legal cases have found that mandatory student fees are unconstitutional in certain circumstances, more students may challenge this traditional method of funding student clubs and organizations.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Current legal trends indicate a movement toward issuing at least a partial refund of fees. Some campuses have developed check-off systems that allow students to choose which organizations they will support before they pay any fees. Several campuses developed funding systems that involve more student input into the entire fee allocation process. Writing about student fees, Gibbs (as cited in Johnson, 1997) recommends that:

- Institutions know their state constitution, laws, and regulations.
- Institutions have a clearly written policy statement of guidelines for collection, allocation, and expenditure of fees.
- Institutions are clear on which organizations and activities can apply for funding.
- Fees support primarily educational requests.
- Policies governing the distributing of fees be content-neutral.
- The process allows for a great amount of student dialogue before fees are collected and distributed.
- Fees only fund on-campus organizations and events.

After the Wells Bill passed, Colorado State University implemented a formal procedure for its student fee appeal process and publicized it to students. Until 1998, no fee appeal process existed, and no one informed CSU students they could petition a student fee. Now, an appeals committee hears cases, and the appeals

procedures are published on all information listing the fees. In such cases as *Southworth* and *Smith*, courts said that universities may not force students to fund expression with which they disagree and have required universities to offer students refunds or waivers. Other universities should follow CSU's example in establishing an appeals process.

Universities like CSU that do not provide student fee funding to organizations deemed religious or political may be vulnerable to a lawsuit based on *Rosenberger*, but at the same time they are shielded from the problem presented in *Southworth*. Coordinators of student activities, in consultation with university counsel, should determine the best possible course of action based on these two legal cases.

Institutions should research how the University of Virginia, the University of California, and the University of Wisconsin systems are currently addressing student fees and discuss with these institutions how these fee systems are working for them. Associate Vice Chancellor of Students and Dean of Students, Ronald Stump of the University of Colorado-Boulder, who worked at the University of Virginia during the Rosenberger case, offered this advice: "Follow what makes sense for the campus, its political climate, and use the best legal interpretation as a guide. I also would put into the funding process a means for refunds for dissidents so they can opt out" (R. Stump, personal communication, November 8, 1998). This approach considers the constitutional rights and diverse interests of all students.

#### CONCLUSION

May a public university deny funding to student organizations of a political, ideological, or religious nature? May students be forced with mandatory student fees to support student groups with which they disagree? After a review of current cases, the apparent answer to both questions is "no." The issue of mandatory student fees is confusing, due in no small part to the conflicting court rulings on the subject. Student affairs administrators need to consider the competing demands of the university to provide an atmosphere of intellectual discourse with room for divergent points of view, as well as the student' constitutional rights to freedom of speech, freedom of religion, and freedom of expression. Student affairs administrators face a challenging task that is negotiable with careful attention to all concerns.

#### REFERENCES

Associated Students of Colorado State University, "Referendum For Increased Student Funding," Bill 2157, 21st Senate, 25th Session. (1992). Blumner, R. (1998, August 28). Student fees and free speech. *The Rocky Mountain News*.

- Carroll, T.W. (1998, November 6). Using student fees for lobbying, Letter to the Editor. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, B9.
- Case Summary, Rosenberger v. University of Virginia, 115 S. Ct. 2510 (1995). First Amendment Center [On-line]. Available: www.fac.org.
- Court, Legislator Take on Wisconsin's Student Fee System. (1997, July 28). First Amendment Center [On-line]. Available: www.fac.org.
- Greenhouse, L. (1999, November 10). Justices hear students' case on the withholding of fees. *The New York Times*.
- Healy, P. (1998, September 4). U.S. Appeals Court Bars U. of Wisconsin From Forcing Students to Finance Political Groups. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*.
- Hudson, D. (1998, February 4). Students claim university's mandatory fees violate rights. *The Freedom Forum Online* [On-line]. Available: www.freedomforum.org.
- Jaschik, S. (1995, July 7). High court rules in favor of religious students. The Chronicle of Higher Education, A24.
- Jaschik, S. (1994, February 16). Court upholds a ruling on religious activities. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, A36.
- Johnson, J.F. (1997). Student activity fees: An examination of systems and the related legal concepts. Unpublished manuscript, Indiana University.
- Martyka, J. (1998, August 12). Appeals court upholds U. Wisconsin fees decision. University Wire [On-line]. Available: www.uwire.com.
- Office of the Vice President for Student Affair. (1998. November). Student fee survey, Colorado State University.
- O'Neil, R.M. (1998, September 25). What a recent court ruling means for required student fees. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*.
- O'Neil, R.M. (1994, November 23). A troublesome supreme court case. The Chronicle of Higher Education.
- Revised Institutional Plan for Student Fees and Charges. (1997, December).

  Paper presented at meeting of the State Board of Agriculture,
  Colorado State University.
- Ritter, D. (1997). Students challenge activities fees. The Bulletin of the Association of College Unions International, 65(1), 26-33.
- Rosenberger v. Rector and Visitors of the University of Virginia, S. Ct. (1995).
- Schmidt, P. (1999, November 12). Supreme court shutdown over student speech. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*.
- Senate Bill. 97-028 (enacted), General Assembly of the State of Colorado (1997).
- Smith v. Regents of the University of California, 16 Cal. Rptr. 2nd 181 (Cal. Sup. Ct. 1993).

Southworth v. Grebe, (7th U.S. Ct. App. 1998) [On-line]. Available: www.kentlaw.edu.

Stump, R. (1998, November 8). Personal communication via email.

Andrew R. Feldman ('99) is the Asistant Director of Student Life for Community Services at the University of Vermont. Jennifer G. Roy ('99) is the Coordinator of Programming and Leadership Development at California State University, Chico.

# Just E-mail Me: Students of the Information and Technology Age

### Laura M. Hattas

Growing in importance to how student affairs professionals practice is their understanding of technology and the effects of such technology on students, the university and the world at large. Questions remain not only unanswered, but unasked. If administrators are to effectively contribute developmentally and educationally to the lives of students, a revolution may be imminent.

Seven percent of households owned computers in 1983. By 1997, the number exploded to 44 percent. Only five years ago, in 1995, the Internet remained virtually unknown to the masses and inaccessible to most of the world's population. In 1997, there were 80 million e-mail users worldwide. Current projections prophesize that over 40 percent of American households will be connected by this year (Tapscott, 1998).

Today's traditionally-aged college student grew up alongside the telecommunications industry. College graduates will enter a job market that not only demands a working knowledge of information technology, but also hungers for those with a mastery of cyberspace skills. Understanding the challenges confronting students demands that student affairs professionals be aware of changing technology and its potential effects on students, the world they will enter, and the field of student affairs.

Levine and Cureton (1998a) likened the relationship of students to their college or university as that of customers to a bank:

Think about what you want from your bank. We know what we want: an ATM on every corner. And when we get to the ATM, we want there to be no line. We also would like a parking spot right in front of the ATM, and to have our checks deposited the moment they arrive at the bank, or the day before! (p. 14)

Many students now expect convenience and immediate gratification from their postsecondary institution. Why? Arthur Sandeen (1996) held changes in technology responsible: Rapid advances in communications, information processing, and computer technology have changed the way colleges and universities conduct their affairs. These advances have also changed the expectations of students and others for efficient, rapid services and around-the-clock access to information. (p. 455)

Students' familiarity and comfort with technological innovations have made them accustomed to systems that can cater to their expectations.

#### A TECHNOLOGY PROFILE

A look at technological advances over the last two decades illustrates the changes effecting how students and administrators live and work today. The most influential include: genetic engineering, fiber optics, CD-ROMs, digital audio tape (Levine & Cureton, 1998b), personal computers, robots, semiconductors, software, interactive software, cellular communications, satellite links, and the Internet ("The Hitchhiker's," 1996); not to mention the advances in medical technologies. Many of these developments crushed people's former knowledge of time and space; turning a belaboring paper task into the click of a mouse, and connecting people to cultures and to persons once too far away to imagine.

Beyond the technologies we already know, the capacity for further advancement seems infinite. Currently, computing power doubles every 18 months. The average car today has more computer-processing power than the first lunar landing-craft had in 1969. "No communication medium has ever grown as fast as the Internet. . . with the number [of users] doubling every year," ("The Hitchhiker's," 1996, p. s4). Purchasing groceries, trading stocks, or participating in a video call in real-time are no longer advents of the future. And, clearly, the zenith of such growth remains indeterminate

How does perpetual technological growth impact the world that future college graduates will enter? The technology forecast of 1998, from *Design News* claims that in the near future there will be dual-processors on desktops. The brains of two computers will be merged, doubling a computer's (and often a person's) speed and work capacity. New "flexible" circuits are being developed that enable communication devices to be more complex, while being smaller and more economical. Alternative uses of plastics are being developed (there is an all-plastic car in the future). Intranet technologies are abounding, and there are major advancements in the use of hydraulic power. Future graduates will enter a work arena increasingly different than today, change being the only constant.

#### CHILDREN AND TECHNOLOGY

The impact of technology on graduates indicates the need to prepare students to meet it. At the same time, higher education itself needs preparation. Envisioning the future campus includes picturing the future student. A depiction of who will be coming to college can be gleaned from information on today's youth. *Electronic Children* (Gill, 1996) explored three major issues dealing with the effects of technology on children: children watching television, playing games with computers, and computers in education.

How have children responded to the information revolution? The author asserted that there was a relationship between violence and television, described the potential for addiction to computer games, and identified computer games' influence on negative gender identification and hindering of social development. It is important to examine how pre-college students learn, to better prepare educators to understand the incoming generation of students. This becomes even more crucial as one imagines potential revolutions to current structures of education. The final issue in *Electronic Children* (Gill, 1996) explored the quality of education and the future of education based on use of computers in the curriculum and cited Professor Seymour Papert:

There won't be schools in the future. . . I think the computer will blow up the school. That is, the school defined as something where there are classes, teachers running exams, people structured in groups by age, follow a curriculum - all of that. The whole system is based on a set of structural concepts that are incompatible with the presence of the computer. (p. 75)

#### THE NET GENERATION

Although an abundance of information subsists on the generations of students born up to late 1970s, little material exists on current and upcoming students. Don Tapscott (1998), named this group the Net Generation - a generation raised in a world that filters life experiences through technology. Tapscott wrote about a new mind, a new learning and a new culture. His proclamation included a generation 'lap'. This younger generation has become an acknowledged authority for the first time by their elders, as they surpass them in their mastery of, and comfort with, technology and change. Sixteen year old Kim Devereaux shared, "I think that technology has changed the way adults treat me. They seem to take my opinions more seriously because they realize I just may know something they don't' (p. 37).

Tapscott (1998) stated that American society was becoming knowledge-based. His view of changes in education conjectured that they followed the economy's

movement from being agrarian to industrial, then business, and now, he asserted, it would have to change again:

In the new economy, wealth is increasingly created by knowledge work-brain rather than brawn. There have always been people who have worked with their minds rather than their hands. Already, almost 60 percent of American workers are knowledge workers and 8 of 10 new jobs are in information-intensive sectors of the economy. (p. 127)

Tapscott (1998) referenced Davis and Botkin, "but we have yet to develop a new educational paradigm, let alone create the 'schoolhouse' of the future, which may be neither school nor house" (p. 151).

#### THE NET UNIVERSITY

This idea of tearing down the revered schoolhouse may unnerve many people. It also may be just that: an idea. However, the establishment of educational institutions solely offering distance degrees, like Western Governors University, might drive the wrecking ball. Levine and Cureton (1998b) spoke to rapid change in technology and how people relate to such change. They referenced the Industrial Revolution. Since change occurred so rapidly, without a way to understand exactly what the future held, people were "confused, frustrated, angry, lost, flailing, and often failing" (p. 153). Loss reigned as the dominant emotion. Today could be a time of similar unrest, particularly with regard to drastic movements in a major institution like education.

Distance learning exhibits one of the most obvious unions of technological advancement and education. Benedict (1996) wrote,

When most people think of the process of higher education they usually think of a group of students sitting together in a specific place, at a specific time, and for a specified duration of time, usually in a semester of fourteen or fifteen weeks. This image often includes a faculty member presenting information to the students, usually in a lecture format. . Imagine a class of students who never meet face to face with one another or the professor; whose homes are spread throughout the country; who communicate through computers, fax machines, and videotapes. (p. 477)

Benedict described what many of us know as distance education. The concepts traditionally held around learning have broken down to fit an educational relationship between the institution and the student solely through technological means. For example, Benedict considered the speed in which individuals gather information. What once took days - collecting research and making copies, not to

mention looking through a university's library card catalogue - might take a few hours

People can communicate across oceans through the Internet, making access to the breadth and depth of information necessary for research instantly available. Classrooms hold the capabilities to join other classrooms worldwide through computer- and tele- conferencing. Komives and Woodard (1996) stated that a major campus issue was "creating and leading with technology" (p. 549). They contended that practitioners would be expected to "know how to harness technology to design learning environments and meet the service needs of students." How do these practitioners learn the know how to do this successfully?

#### **CONCERNS**

Many student affairs professionals wonder if students today experience growing isolation amongst their peers, and others, as a direct consequence of technology. According to Benedict (1996), some students in distant learning programs report a feeling of isolation or loneliness due to the absence of classroom interaction. This is of grave concern to student affairs practitioners. If the profession's focus is to build community and foster the development of students, how would any impact manifest if we never meet the students with whom we work? Should dehumanization be considered a potential and real danger? The question for student affairs practitioners remains: how will student services need to change to accommodate the fact their opportunity to reach students endures only via computer? Is community still possible? If the future of higher education can be seen through a computer monitor, what does it look like for student affairs, and for students?

Furthermore, will the theories of development used by professionals still be applicable, or is a new age of theory imminent? Becoming increasingly important to understanding students' development is knowing the potential effects of new technology, and how that technology may alter student affairs practitioners' abilities to effectively participate in students' development. One area for reexamination abides in what we know about involvement theory. Astin (1996) found involvement a powerful catalyst in student development. He exacted three major forms of involvement as having the most impact: academic involvement, involvement with faculty, and involvement with student peer groups. Would student affairs as an entity still be able to aid in the fulfillment of these aspects on a virtual campus? Some would respond with a quick and resounding, "No." Without the physical and real interaction, involvement would develop an entirely new meaning, one that is contrary to a known foundation in the field. And yet, distance learners told Benedict (1996) that they received greater interaction, through e-mail, with both faculty and peers than they did in traditional classes.

All aspects of the role of student affairs in a student's development deserve examination as we move, not necessarily on to a virtual campus, but toward a campus that is increasingly connected through a computer. To do this, practitioners need to be students; to not only learn the new technologies, but concentrate on how they can effect positive change in students through this new medium.

A clear perspective regarding this revolution needs to be maintained, however. For instance, warning goes to those contemplating the quick and dramatic effects projected of new technologies from a group who call themselves *technorealists*. They claim that too much extremist thinking about technology abounds, and somewhere in-between lies reality and truth. "Integral to this perspective is our understanding that the current tide of technological transformation, while important and powerful, is actually a continuation of waves of change that have taken place throughout history," (Bennahum, et al., 1998, p. 19). They might ask student affairs practitioners to reflect upon the assumption that the educational universe will be revolutionized as an unauthenticated conclusion.

#### CONCLUSION

In a rapidly changing world, professions are challenged continually to examine themselves in light of new technologies. The concerns for student affairs practitioners are many. The uncertainty about the future is great. While impossible to imagine all of the possibilities of revolutionizing the currently structured campus, hopefully this article brings to mind thoughts about how technological advancement impacts campus - from student's rooms, to classrooms, to our own offices. Based on his/her participation in his/her education through communication devices, today's student may face developmental issues we have not yet discovered. The dawn of major change in terms of our interaction with students and the university rises. The world growing around and within higher education remains unpredictable and full of new potentials and mysteries. Is student affairs responding to the call to explore them?

#### REFERENCES

- Astin, A. (1996, March/April). Involvement in learning revisited: Lessons we have learned. *Journal of College Student Development*, 37, 123-134.
- Benedict, L. (1996). Technology and information systems. In S. R. Komives &
  - D. B. Woodard & Associates (Eds.), Student services: A handbook for the profession. San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Bennahum, D. S., Biggs, B. S., Borsook, P., Bowe, M., Garfinkel, S. Johnson,
  - S. Rushkoff, D., Shapiro, A., Shenk, D., Silberman, S., Stahlman, M.,
  - & Syman, S. (1998, April 6). Technorealism: Get real! A manifesto from a new generation of cultural critics. *The Nation*, 266, 19-20.

- Gill, Tim (1996). Electronic children. United Kingdom: Biddles Ltd.
- The hitchhiker's guide to cybernomics. (1996, September 28). *The Economist*, 340, s3-s6.
- Komives, S. R. & Woodard, D. B. (1996). Building on the past, shaping the future. In Komives, S. B. & Woodard, D. B. & Associates (Eds.), Student Services: A handbook for the profession. San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Levine, A. & Cureton, J. S. (1998a, May/June). College life: an obituary. *Change* 51, 14-17.
- Levine, A. & Cureton, J. S. (1998b). When hope and fear collide: A portrait of today's college student. San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Sandeen, A. (1996). Organization, functions, and standards of practice. In S. R. Komives & D. B. Woodard & Associates (Eds.), *Student services: a handbook for the profession*. San Fransisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Tapscott, D. (1998). Growing up digital: The rise of the net generation. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Technology forecast 1998. (1998, January 5). Design News, 53, 70-77.

Laura M. Hattas ('00) is a graduate Hall Director at Colorado State University and graduate student in the Student Affairs in Higher Education program.

# AN ASSESSMENT OF INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS NEEDS IN THE UNITED STATES

## Randy R. McCrillis

This article examines the needs of international students as they enter into and maneuver through the United States institutions of higher education. In addition, it examines the barriers that international students encounter. The author assesses the sources of stress and how higher education administrators can work towards relieving some of the pressure international students encounter.

#### INTRODUCTION

International students are increasing in numbers and becoming an important aspect of the United States' higher education system. In 1995, over 450,000 international students were enrolled in colleges and universities in the U.S. (Coleman, 1997), making the United States the largest provider of higher education to international students (Barker, 1996). A review of the research (Barker, 1996; Piland & Barnard, 1996; Myers-Lipton, 1996; Kintzer, 1995; de Verthelyi, 1996; Aper & Currrey, 1996; Kao & Gansneder, 1995; Coleman, 1997) identifies many issues facing international students entering United States institutions of higher education, accompanied by varying concerns of universities who host international students.

International students face a variety of concerns as they attempt to maneuver through the United States institutions of higher education. Among the pressures these students face include: adjusting to new surroundings (Kao & Gansneder, 1995; de Verthelyi, 1996; Barker, 1996); language barriers and the use of the Test Of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL) as a base for determination of English proficiency (Coleman, 1997; Kao & Gansneder, 1995); and finally connecting with faculty and peers (Coleman, 1997; Aper & Currey, 1996; Kintzer, 1995). These factors may determine whether a student succeeds or fails in a system.

#### ADJUSTING TO THE NEW SURROUNDING

International students face a variety of obstacles upon arrival at a college or university, as do students from the U.S. They are challenged by the inability to buy food that they were used to at home as well as locating their classes. While many of their concerns are similar to the U.S. student, international students are furthered challenged by the acculturation process. The acculturation process is noted by five

stages. The honey moon period is where the international student is elated to be in the new culture and excited by everything new. Culture shock or stage 2, the international student is immersed in new problems: housing, transportation, food language, and new friends. Fatigue may result from continuously trying to comprehend and use the second language, they may wonder why they came here. The third stage Initial Adjustments find the international students has moved passed the difficulties of finding housing and going to school. They are now able to express basic ideas and feelings in the second language but may not be fluent vet. In stage four Mental Isolation, the international student has been away for a long period of time and may feel lonely. Many still feel they cannot express themselves as well as they can in their native language. Frustrations and sometimes a loss of selfconfidence may result. Some individuals may remain in this stage. The final stage is Acceptance and Integration where a routine has been established. The student has accepted the habits, customs, food and characteristics of the people in the new culture. The student feels comfortable with friends, associates and the language of the country. In addition to the acculturation period other difficulties that are heightened for international students in adjusting include: the contrast between prearrival expectations and the first impressions; the conflict in celebrating different holidays and religious festivals than those celebrated in the host country; the lack of connection with a support system; the inadequacy to easily attend to one's personal needs; and finally, the process of learning and understanding a new culture (Coleman, 1997; de Vertheyli, 1996; Barker, 1996).

The host institution can help to make the period of adjustment much easier on the student by providing him or her with information on support groups, the acculturation process and places to buy culture-specific food and clothing (Myers-Lipton, 1996). In addition, host institutions can assist these students to feel at home by simply asking the student what she or he may need to feel at home.

#### LANGUAGE AS A BARRIER

The language barrier is one of the greatest challenges facing many international students as they enter into the higher education arena. According to Wan, Chapman, and Briggs (1992) lack of experience in speaking the "English language appear to override all other concerns, which suggest that international students' perceived language skills have the most influence on their appraisal of the stressfulness of classroom situations" (p. 617). When an international student decides to enroll in a university of higher education, he or she must first take the TOEFL which determines proficiency in speaking, understanding and writing English (Kao & Gansneder, 1995). Based on test score, he or she may be required to take an English class before he or she is allowed to enroll. This may add an additional burden for the student who only planned on enrolling for a certain number of semesters. In addition, the original information the student received may not have included the

additional English class or proficiency in English as a prerequisite. Therefore, the TOEFL not only sends the message that the international student may not be completely ready to enter into the system as a student but also a required additional course potentially adds financial pressures and time constraints. Some researchers argue that the TOEFL does not accurately determine the actual level of the student's oral and written ability (American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers, 1971). The test is designed to assess a student's proficiency in the English language but does not take the ability to understand the more formal language utilized in colleges and universities (Coleman, 1997).

Coleman (1997) suggested that there are four different ways that language barriers can play out in the classroom for international students: understanding lectures, taking timed tests, asking questions and feeling comfortable enough to participate fully in group projects. Often times, professors move too rapidly through the material during lectures and may not realize that international students may not be able to listen attentively while writing notes in English. In addition, students may not be familiar with the professor's use of formal language unique to each discipline. For example, an international student studying accounting may not be familiar with the English terminology used to interpret a balance sheet or an income statement. International students are at a disadvantage when they do not understand the definition or meaning of different vocabulary words from the beginning.

Furthermore, the usage of cultural specific language in the classroom can cause anxiety for international students (McKnight, 1994). Faculty often will use colloquial or slang expressions, references to American politics, current American events, history, figures, or even comic strips, movies, and songs. When faculty do not explain these references and expressions, the international student may miss the point of the entire discussion and feel anxiety over the misunderstanding. Therefore, when faculty have one or more international students in the classroom, they must carefully be aware of the student's needs. Faculty may have to set aside time to go over the material or allow tape recorders, so the international student may replay the lecture at a later time to achieve a better understanding of the information presented in the class.

Another constraint that faces international students parallels to the language barrier is taking timed tests. International students may not be able to finish tests within the allotted time, even when they know the material (Coleman, 1997). Thus, it may be important for faculty members to consider alternative means of assessing international students' skills and knowledge. This may include a supplement to timed tests, or replacing the timed test with another way to test competency.

International students need to feel comfortable enough to ask questions and discuss ideas in class. Some researchers suggest that the reason students do not open up in class is because of cultural differences (Kao & Gansneder, 1995). Garner (1989) observed that Asian students usually are unaccustomed to initiating interactions in the classroom but were willing to talk one-on-one with professors out of the classroom. Researchers also found that international students who were reluctant to initiate discussions because of their cultural background, but they would contribute if individually solicited (Adams, 1992).

Kao and Gansneder (1995) interviewed international students and found that culture, as well as familiarity with the material, influenced a student's participation in class, but more importantly they discovered that familiarity or lack of familiarity with the material did inhibit their interaction. Instead of focusing in on the problems with spoken English, they determined that it actually was the material that was influencing the student's lack of assertiveness to talk openly in class. They also found that the friendliness of fellow students had the least effect upon the international student's willingness to participate. A final insight from their research was the difference between international male students' and international female students' quantity of speaking in the classroom. They concluded that although the males did speak up more than the females, it was "not statistically significant" (p. 132). This is not congruent with research on American Caucasian students, which found that female students participated less often and less assertively than male students (Brooks, 1982).

A final area to examine is the comfort level of international students as they participate in group projects. Coleman (1997) found that often time students will complain international students do not contribute to team assignments because they may not talk. Robinson (1992) attributed this to a lack of familiarity with the language and culture and the lack of communication skills, which include debating, arguing. expressing disagreement, dealing with conflict, recommendations. These skills are vital to communicating in the English language and many cultures do not emphasize the usage of these skills as in the United States. Without the use of these skills, all students who participate in groups would have a harder time interacting, especially during the "storming stage" of the group process. Conflict and polarization characterize the storming process of the group process; this phase finds members resisting group influences and task requirements. It also finds members of a group redefining their positions and job responsibilities. Faulty members need to be aware of this and encourage the students in these groups to try and work out their differences, so that the international students may gain skills in this arena.

Faculty members play an important role in increasing international students' comfort level with language skills and readiness to talk in class (Coleman, 1997). If a faculty member can find ways to engage these students in class through a variety of ways,

these students will have a much easier time gathering knowledge. Faculty can also help students from the United States learn about other cultures and countries through international students by encouraging dialoguing between the students.

#### CONNECTION WITH PEERS AND FACULTY

Social pressures that affect international students' involvement with these two groups include: the cultural barrier, the language barrier, and the lack of understanding at both the university level and at the peer level. As with most students when they first enter a higher education setting, international students are uneasy about their ability to connect with both faculty and peers. Students' involvement with both their peers and faculty can enhance his or her involvement and integration into the campus community (Aper & Currey, 1996; De Verthelyi, 1996).

Cultural barriers are probably the most recognizable. When most international students arrive, they may have some background on the United States culture, but depending on where they will be attending school those generalizations about the culture may or may not apply (Coleman, 1997). It should also be noted that many times the students are attending school in the United States because there are no or fewer opportunities for higher education where they came from. Therefore, there may not be an interest in understanding or assimilating to the culture of the U.S., which will effect any relationship the student will make with others. It is in this sole desire for education that may lead an international student to shy away from relationships with students from the United States.

Depending upon the ethnicity of international students, the relationships they form with others may look and feel different than students from the United States will create with each other. For example, for some cultures, the relationship between faculty and students is considerably more formal and less participatory than in the United States (Coleman, 1997). Another barrier that comes into play is that international students may have different attitudes toward gender and racial equity and, in turn, be subject to or influence some of their peers and faculty's attitudes and prejudices (Barker, 1996). Furthermore, all relationships carry cultural values, norms, judgements, and attitudes within them, which imply that students who wish to interact within the constraints of these cultural values are aware of all of these underlying currents and their influences. When a person from another culture makes a mistake based upon these cultural rules, that person may be excluded from further relations in the future and not understand what he or she did that was wrong or inappropriate. Therefore, this may cause the international student to shy away from establishing relationships with peers and faculty (Robinson, 1992). Inhibitions towards interactions can result in alienation and lack of meaningful connection, without any party actually aware that the manifestation lies in the cultural barriers.

The misunderstandings of the relationship that international students may have had within their own countries and cultures can be seen with the guidelines of academic honesty within the United States (Robinson, 1992). In many instances, international students do not understand the difference between doing a research paper or copying someone else's work. They often fail to cite the proper references in a research paper. They may not understand how faculty members' definitions of plagiarism and honesty and the consequences that can occur if they do not follow their rules or guidelines. In other countries faculty may not necessarily share the same views, attitudes, and interpretations of academic honesty. For example, what the United States would consider as cheating is actually condoned, in some other cultures, as students are expected to assist their less gifted peers (Coleman, 1997).

In order to make these relationships more effective, research provides a variety of suggestions. First, Aper and Currey (1996) suggested that international students should reach out through work or work-study positions on campus. They report that those students who work on campus have better English skills. The job setting provides some valuable opportunities for interaction between students and faculty. Research seems to suggest that students with jobs on campus report feeling more connected to the institution and to other students, which in turn implies that they were enjoying their experiences through these connections (Aper & Currey, 1996). In addition it needs to be noted that this may be a United States bias that being connected to an institution leads to an enjoyment at an institution.

The institution needs to include and encourage international students in its activities in order to benefit students. This may be in the form of faculty incorporating learning experiences that include international students. The administration can help by having higher education institutions include international education in the institution's mission statement, written policies and procedures for faculty, establishment of and staffing an international education office, policy and advisory committees in place to involve constituencies on campus in international education, institutional membership in international education associations, and funding international education programs and activities (Barker, 1996).

#### CONCLUSION

As noted, the faculty member and the institution are key factors in international students success or failure. The attitude of the university or college towards international students will help to determine the success of an individual. International students can and do bring a vast amount of different experiences and perspectives to the classroom and overall institution of higher education. In this ever-increasing global environment, appreciation and understanding of those unique differences are critical if students are to be successful.

#### REFERENCES

- Adams, M. (1992). Cultural inclusion in the American college classroom. In L. Border & N. Chism (Eds.), New Directions for Teaching and Learning: Teaching for diversity (5-17). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers. (1971).

  AACRAO-AID participant selection and placement study. Washington, DC: USAID.
- Aper, J. P.& Currey, D. E. (1996). Work and the college experiences of Asian students. *International Education*, 25 (2), 34-48.
- Barker, T. S. (1996). Administration of international educators: Survey results of Texas four-year colleges and medical schools. *International Education*, 25(2), 74-90.
- Brooks, V.R. (1982). Sex differences in student dominance behavior in female and male professors' classroom. Sex Roles, 8, 683-690.
- Coleman, S. (1997). International students in the classroom: A resource and an opportunity. *International Education*. 25, 52-61.
- De Verthelyi, R. F., (1996). Facilitating cross-cultural adjustment: A newsletter by and for international students' spouses. *Journal of College Student Development*, 36(6), 699-701.
- Garner, B. (1989). Southeast Asian culture and classroom culture. *College Teaching*, 37, 127-130.
- Kao, C. & Gansneder, B. (1995). An assessment of class participation by international graduate students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 36(2), 132-140.
- Kintzer, F. C., (1995). International developments in higher education: new perspectives on nonuniversities. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 19, 235-246.
- McKnight, A. (1994, March). The business of listening at university. Paper presented at the 28th Annual TESOL Convention, Baltimore, MD.
- Myers-Lipton, S. J. (1996). Effect of service-learning on college students' attitudes toward international understanding. *Journal of College Student Development*, 37(6), 659-668.
- Piland, W.E., Barnard, B. (1996). Multicultural education in the classroom. Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 20, 49-63.
- Robinson, J. (1992, October). International students and American university culture: Adjustment issues. Paper presented at the WATESOL Annual Convention, Arlington, VA.
- Wan, T. Y., Chapman, D. W., & Biggs, D. A. (1992). Academic stress of international students attending U.S. universities. Research in Higher Education, 33, 607-623.

Randy R. McCrillis ('00) is the Coordinator for Multicultural Training and Leadership Development for Residence Life at Colorado State University.

# The Role of Orientation Programs in Guiding Freshman Transition to College Life

## Rebecca A. Newman-Gonchar

Orientation programs enhance a university's arsenal to promote freshmen success as they transition into life at the university. Freshmen succeed when they make progress toward fulfilling educational and personal goals. Establishing and maintaining interpersonal relationships and developing identity are among the top three contributors to freshmen succes. (Upcraft, Gardner, & Associates, 1989) While traditional orientation programs provide an essential academic and logistic basis from which students can maneuver around campus, progressive orientation programs offers a challenging socialization process which can aid in their adjustment to the college experience.

This article addresses the need for innovative orientation program models. Research was conducted to establish relevant theoretical support of socialization programs, which allow first year students the opportunity to make a healthy transition to a college or university. The student affairs professionals' role is addressed as a means for developing new programming models.

Today's first-year college students need guidance in forming the social support networks necessary to ease their transitions from high school to higher education. The differences between their lives in high school and their new lives at a college or university can overwhelm and frustrate new students. While the idea of attending a college or university can be fun and exciting at first, the positive feelings towards the freshman experience may diminish quickly if they do not have peers with whom to share those experiences. Social support networks, such as peer friendships, reduce the feelings of alienation, homesickness, and stress. When student affairs professionals guide the development of interpersonal relationships between first-year students, they contribute to students' successful transition. Administrators not only are easing the transition process but also ultimately contributing to the students' academic, social, and emotional well being (Upcraft, Gardner, & Associates, 1989). Orientation programs prepare new students for the experiences they will have at a college or university.

First-year students succeed when they make progress toward fulfilling educational and personal goals. Establishing and maintaining interpersonal relationships, as well as developing identity, are among the top three contributing factors for a successful first year (Upcraft, et al., 1989). Student affairs professionals can aid in the development of interpersonal relationships from the beginning of students' postsecondary experience. By involving elements of social integration into first-year student orientation programs, programmers prepare first-year students for successful transitions to a college or university. Traditional orientation programs provide an essential academic and logistic basis from which students can maneuver around campus; creative orientation programs can offer students the opportunity to experience a challenging socialization process, which will aid in students' adjustment to the college or university. Academic/logistic-based orientation programs offer services such as advising, registration, degree requirements, and campus tours. Socialization programs offer more opportunities for interaction and leadership experiences.

#### TRANSITIONS

Gardner and Ellis (1989) cite many changes students endure when they begin at a university or college. The academic, social, and emotional differences between high school and college/university may affect an individual's ability to succeed in the new environment. The transitions students face are highlighted by Tinto (cited in Wilkie & Kuckuck, 1989) in the following quote,

The freshman year of college requires a series of rapid and profound adaptations, academically as well as socially and emotionally. The inability to adapt to the new environment often causes students either to withdraw from school during or after the freshman year or to perform at a lower academic level than expected. (p. 1)

Successful first-year students overcome these differences as they make the transition to college/university life.

In 1993, Tinto drew a strong connection between social-support theory and freshmen adjustment theory (Wilkie & Kuckuck, 1989). The first-year student's adjustment to college/university life is no longer thought to include only academic challenges. New students require social interactions to positively influence the transition they experience. Developing strong social connections with other students can contribute to the new students' success in many ways. Tinto (Wilkie & Kuckuck, 1989) explains that social support increases the students' self-esteem and self-perception, as well as increases the students' ability to understand and manage problems, to adjust to adverse situations, and to engage in campus life. Negative social interactions, such as distracting or pressure-filled parties, may not contribute

positively to a student's success. However, most social interactions positively contribute to a student's overall success in college. Orientation programs initiate a cycle of positive social interactions and experiences.

Significant social relationships help students cope effectively with the demands of college/university life, that in turn positively impacts the student's academic performance (Napoli & Wortman, 1998). Social and emotional well-being appear to have a direct relationship to an individual's ability to perform academically. When students have confidence in their relationships and are receiving positive reinforcement, they more likely develop the academic skills necessary to be successful. In addition, an individual's desire to be successful at an institution increases as he or she develops a social support network (Napoli & Wortman, 1998). Not only do social networks impact an individual's academic ability, but also they contribute to an individual's attitude towards academic success.

#### TODAY'S STUDENT

Colleges and universities must take a more vested interest in the lives of today's teenagers as they become college students. Unfortunately, "students are coming to college today feeling overwhelmed and more damaged than students who came in previous years" (Levine & Cureton, 1998, p. 7). Levine and Cureton suggest that the percentages of students with eating disorders, of students disrupting classrooms, abusing alcohol and drugs or attempting suicide have all increased in recent years. While it is likely that the number of students seeking psychological counseling services will increase, student affairs professionals also must be intentional in creating environments to aid in the freshman transition and development. When a student's emotional and social well-being is in jeopardy, the student's academic skills and persistence to graduation also are at risk.

The educational system's transition to standardized testing during the last decade altered educational objectives to make students more competitive in the economic market (Gilbert & Robins, 1998). However, preparing students to perform well on standardized tests does not necessarily equip them with skills necessary to adapt successfully to life changes. Many students may be highly motivated academically, however they may not have the social skills to adjust to complicated personal lives and social problems (Thomas, Adams, & Birchenhough, 1996). In general, many first-year students are unprepared for the challenges they may face in new environments. They need guidance in forming and maintaining interpersonal relationships, as well as direction in transitioning to a different life at a college or university. Levine and Cureton (1998) explain that today's first-year students are more detached from interpersonal relationships than they have been in years past. This compounds their inability to form healthy and supportive relationships.

Institutions of higher education must address the first-year student's need for acceptance and social connection. Without many social connections, the first-year student may get lost in the daily struggles of transitioning to a new environment. The student's focus becomes "self" oriented and social connections become something he or she must work to accomplish. Not only are students' emotional and social transition hindered by thoughts of social rejection, but also their academic responsibilities are no longer top priorities (Napoli & Wortman, 1998).

Social integration and acceptance are important factors in the transition/success equation. Without social integration, students are much less likely to succeed at their college or university (Napoli & Wortman, 1998). Their academic focus turns away from studying and towards the search for a community in which they will fit. The struggle to "fit in" and gain acceptance saturates first-year students' minds. Unfortunately, at some institutions of higher education, the majority of first-year students work harder at creating their own social network, while neglecting other priorities like preparing for class or studying for tests. Failure to develop the social circles causes some students to lose their determination to attain the once important career-enhancing degree. Of the increasing population of first-year students who persist in postsecondary education, it is estimated that only fifty percent will make it to graduation within five years (Gardner & Ellis, 1997). The other fifty percent will either dropout or take longer than five years to graduate.

"If the transition is made successfully, then growth and development of the individual can be expected" (Upcraft, Gardener, and Associates, 1989, p. 57). The student affairs professional must aid in the development of healthy social ties, in order to prepare students for a successful college/university experience. Healthy relationships are based on trust, honesty, reciprocal appreciation, respect, and open communication. Healthy relationships enhance the development of those involved (Galvin & Cooper, 1996). Successful transitions must include the development of social support networks that on which students can rely. Freshmen need to form relationships with other students in order to maintain their academic, social, and emotional well-being.

#### ORIENTATION

Student orientation programs can provide first year students with the skills and knowledge they need to start their college careers. Many colleges and universities across the country have developed an innovative approach to orienting new students to campus life. In recent years, orientation programs have begun to engage new students in programs beyond the official campus tours and the course registration processes. Institutions have begun to involve new students in a challenging new environment that focuses on developing the skills to be successful emotionally, socially, and academically. "At the very least freshmen who hit the challenges of

orientation camps before they hit the books get a chance to make some friends, pepper upperclassmen with questions, and have fun before they plunge into the usual orientation, like the library tour" (Weiss, 1998, p. A1).

The student affairs professional needs "to be a knowledgeable practitioner, a visionary, and someone who can find solutions to the challenges of a future marked with rapid change" (Rickard, 1997, p. 38). Improving the quality of life on college campuses should provide special attention and support for the first-year student's growth and adjustment. Orientation programs should be designed not only to steer students in logistical directions, but also to initiate and support the development of interpersonal relationships that ultimately will improve the quality of their transition.

According to Barefoot (cited in Gardner & Ellis, 1997), the top three influences for successful transition to life at a college or university are "making new friends", "building institutional commitment," and "interacting with faculty, especially out of class". Orientation programs provide the basis for successful transitions by offering the environment for these positive influences to take place. Intentional programming, such as new orientation programs, can provide students with the necessary tools for successful transition. Furthermore, programs for first year students can facilitate the development of positive social support networks among college freshmen, continuing students, faculty, and staff. Boyer (1987a) states that most colleges are too informal in the introduction of students to the college experience. By challenging students to develop social support networks right from the beginning, orientation programs can be the stepping-stones to a healthy transition to college/university life.

Orientation programs can have a "unique approach to forming an academic community by intentionally disorienting and purposefully challenging students" (Magolda, 1997, p. 44). Facilitators recognize that students' peak development occurs with a balance of challenge and support. A student development model designed by Sanford (1966), challenge and support suggests optimum development occurs as a result of various challenges and supports provided by the student's environment and interpersonal relationships. Orientation programs also can encourage the development of community and self-awareness. Students can be encouraged to "explore the wholeness and interconnectedness of human experience" (Magolda, 1997, p. 46), to develop communication and leadership skills, and to engage in discourse unfamiliar to their daily lives.

While traditional orientation programs tend to offer students only the basic logistical knowledge to be successful students, the new model of orientation programs enhances the students' ability to create a way of living conducive to college life. New students learn the skills necessary to be successful emotionally, physically, academically, and socially in their new environment. Beyond enhancing students'

academic transition, orientation programs increase the new students' self-motivation, and awareness of university life. By teaching all new students that they are not alone and that they are part of a larger community, orientation programs promote cohesion on college campuses, encouraging individuals to make friends and connections to the institution in which they are enrolled.

At Texas A & M University, students developed a highly successful model for a new orientation process. This program model, known as "Fish Camp," challenges students to engage in the development of social support networks. "While little, if any, hard data exist, the somewhat consensual subjective experience of Aggies is that Fish Camp connects them intimately to a community, a set of traditions, and to each other" (http://stuact.tamu.edu/stuorgs/fishcamp/, 1998). First-year "Aggies" appear to leave Fish Camp with the social confidence they need to survive the transition to college life.

When developing a new orientation program that better addresses transition issues, it is essential to establish objective goals. Coordinating the events that take place during an orientation program requires creativity and determination. The programs should be designed to accomplish the particular goals of the orientation program. Each program goal should be related to the overriding goal: help students feel more comfortable entering the university environment and provide them with the skills needed to be successful and healthy.

#### DISCUSSION

Learning and growth during the years students spend in college extends well beyond the classroom walls. College students continually shape and reshape their identities as they discover their adult independence. While in college, it is important for students to learn to function self-sufficiently, as well as to take responsibility for achieving their goals, and to break away from social pressures (Chickering & Reisser, as cited in Evans, Forney, & Guido-Dibrito, 1998). First-year students need to begin the process of developing self-identity within the social support structure. Feelings of alienation among first-year students can hinder their ability to grow and mature. Feelings of rejection and inadequacy threaten students' academic, social, and emotional health

While new student orientation programs must address the logistical aspects of preparing students and their families for college, they also should address the social needs of the enrolling student. Developing supportive relationships with peers can help ease a student's transition in many important ways. The feeling of belonging can help increase a student's self-confidence, self-esteem, self-determination, and personal initiative (Napoli & Wortman, 1998). The skills new students gain at

orientation programs can also enhance their decision-making skills and stress management abilities.

Orientation programs play an essential role in preparing college students for the many challenges before them. Today's first-year students need guidance in forming the skills needed to be successful in institutions of higher education. While academic and logistical orientation to a college or university is important, it cannot offer all the additional skills needed to survive the transition to college; today's college students need guidance in the emotional and social realms of their life as well. Some are not prepared to adapt to college life, which leaves them vulnerable to feelings of alienation and inadequacy. Social support networks contribute to college students' emotional, social, and academic well-being by providing an environment in which healthy adjustment can occur. Student affairs professionals must take an active role in promoting student development by providing intentional programs, established to ease the transition that college freshmen experience.

#### REFERENCES

- Boyer, E.L. (1987a, January). The college as community. Paper presented at the meeting of The Freshman Year Experience, West, University of California, Irvine.
- Evans, N.J., Forney, D.S., & Guido-Dibrito, F. (1998). Student development in college: Theory, research, and practice. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers
- Galvin, K.M. & Cooper, P. (1996). Making connections: Readings in relational communication. Los Angeles: Roxbury Publishing Company.
- Gardner, J.N. & Ellis, D.B. (1997). Teaching new student seminars:

  Classroom strategies for retention. University of South Carolina:

  National Resource Center for The Freshman Year Experience and Students in Transition.
- Gilbert, R.N. & Robins, M. (1998). Welcome to our world: Realities of high school students. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Levine, A. & Cureton, J. (1998, March/April). What we know about today's college students. *About Campus*. 3(1).
- Magolda, P. (1997). New students' disorientation: Becoming a member of an academic community. Journal of the Freshman Year Experience, 9(1), 43-104.
- Napoli, A.R. & Wortman, P.M. (1998). Psychosocial factors related to retention and early departure of two-year community college students. *Research in Higher Education*, 39(4), 419-462.

- Rickard, C.E. (1997). The changing characteristics of enrollment management at four-year public comprehensive universities. *The Forum*, 73(2), 38-39.
- Texas A & M University: Fish Camp (1998). Fish Camp. [On-line]. Available: http://stuact.tamu.edu/stuorgs/fishcamp/
- Thomas, M., Adams, S., & Birchenough, A. (1996). Student withdrawal from higher education. *Educational Management & Administration*, 24(2), 207-221.
- Upcraft, M.L., Gardner, J. N., & Associates. (1989). The freshmen year experience: *Helping students survive and succeed in college*. San Fransico: Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers.
- Weiss, K. (1998, September 24). Welcome to college: Now take a hike. *The Los Angeles Times*, p. A1, A16.
- Wilkie, C. & Kuckuck, S. (1989). A longitudinal study of the effects of a freshman seminar. *Journal of The Freshman Year Experience*, 1(1), 1-10.

Rebecca A. Newman-Gonchar ('01), Associate Manager for International House and Lory Apartments, is a graduate student in the Student Affairs in Higher Education program at Colorado State University.

# Connecting Culture and Vision: Prescriptions for the New Leader

## Brett E. Perozzi, Ph.D.

The concepts of organizational culture and organizational vision are interwoven. This article defines and discusses both concepts with emphasis on how organizational culture affects the development and communication of organizational vision.

Administrators assuming a new position at a college or university must be aware of the culture of that institution. Therefore, background information and specific skills are shared to assist administrators in excelling in their new positions within the academy.

#### INTRODUCTION

As graduate students and new professionals move rapidly toward the job search season in higher education, our minds turn to the interview process and ultimately to the uncertainty of beginning a new job. Practitioners need to be cognizant of each new beginning; how to handle them, how new professionals affect students, and the impact on individuals and organizations. Hopefully, this article will allow new college and university administrators to think differently about the organizations they join and provide a framework in which to excel as leaders and visionaries.

Some of the greatest leaders in history have been visionary leaders; Nelson Mandela, Martin Luther King, Jr., John F. Kennedy, Caesar Chavez. These leaders were able to reflect and express the subtleties of their peoples' culture and symbolically embody their values, aspirations, and beliefs. This article explores the relationship between a leader's expression of vision for an organization and the culture of that organization.

#### ORGANIZATIONAL VISION

In these urgent and turbulent times for higher education (Brand, 1993; Romer, 1995) institutions need visionary leaders who can create a symbolic path with their words and gestures for organizational players to follow. External constituencies such as state legislatures and accreditation boards continue to apply the pressure of accountability on the higher education enterprise (Romer, 1995). Wilson (1996) comments, "What all our institutions... need today is leadership and vision" (p. 2), and one of three critical skills Senge (1990) advocates is building shared vision for

the organization. Wilson's (1996) comments make clear the necessity for examining the role of vision in setting institutional priorities in present times:

The current turmoil confronting education is so pervasive that schools and universities have to rethink, quite radically, their roles, their structures, their curriculums, their strategies, and the roles and relationships of students, faculty, administration, and community. And this rethinking requires the vision, the ability to invent the future, the setting of new directions that we associate with leadership rather than the cool competence of management. (p. 2)

No longer does the "top down management" of the past suffice in higher education organizations. In large universities, symbolic acts take the place of decisive interventions (Pfeffer, 1991), and positioning of shared, strategic values replace repetitive behaviors of individuals (Lundberg, 1990).

#### DISCUSSION

#### Vision

Vision is a common term among leadership scholars (Bennis & Nanus, 1985; Gardner, 1990; Senge, 1990). The concept of vision has been defined in a number of ways. For example: "compellingly attractive views of the future that stir wonderment...and galvanize support." (Chait, 1993, p. B1); "articulat[ing] a view of a realistic, credible, attractive future for the organization," (Bennis & Nanus, 1985, p. 89), and "unusual wisdom in foreseeing what is going to happen" (Merriam-Webster, 1989, p. 812). A very succinct definition is proposed by Kouzes and Posner (1987), "an ideal and unique image of the future" (p. 85). New leaders can utilize this concept in a higher education setting to the advantage of both the organization and the leader (Birnbaum, 1992). The organization gains the sense of a unified purpose, while the new leader enjoys constituent support that comes from taking action swiftly in a new position. Often, organizational members wait for the new leader to act, and look for clues about their leadership style.

Senge (1990) makes use of a metaphor to conceptually describe a vision:

If you cut a photograph in half, each half shows only part of the whole image. But if you divide a hologram, each part, no matter how small, shows the whole image intact. Likewise, when a group of people come to share a vision for an organization, each person sees an individual picture of the organization at its best. (p. 13)

Gardner (1990) refers to many people as visionary leaders. Individuals such as Simon Bolivar, Caesar Chavez, and Mahatma Gandhi are described as visionary

largely due to their ability to relate and articulate the values, goals, and beliefs of their "organizations" to a broad audience.

Given Trudeau's (1991) assertion that the human mind recalls data in the form of pictures or images, words that conjure mental pictures provide excellent building blocks for ideal visions. This mental imagery can be accomplished through the use of metaphors and descriptive language. In his *I Have a Dream* speech, the frequently quoted visionary Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. makes use of a number of mental pictures. Two examples taken from that speech are; "a desert state sweltering with the heat of injustice and oppression, will be transformed into an oasis of freedom and justice," and "little black boys and black girls will be able to join hands with little white boys and white girls and walk together as sisters and brothers" (in Kouzes & Posner, 1987, p. 110). Other examples of common metaphors used as visionary expressions include a recent political leader's statement of "a chicken in every pot" and the large telephone company ringing out to "reach out and touch someone" (Bennis & Nanus, 1985).

#### Culture

The concept of organizational culture, which has also been referred to as corporate culture, is a widely studied concept (Peters & Waterman, 1982; Shein, 1985; Tierney, 1988). Kuh and Whitt (1998) provide a definition of culture tailored to the higher education environment:

The collective, mutually shaping patterns of norms, values, practices, beliefs, and assumptions that guide the behavior of individuals and groups in an institute of higher education and provide a frame of reference within which to interpret the meaning of events and actions on and off campus. (p. 12)

Many authors argue that the culture of a organization is largely tacit and individuals act in accordance with the culture almost unknowingly (Shein, 1985). Therefore, it is especially difficult for outsiders or newcomers to fully understand or assimilate into the culture in a short period of time.

Organizational culture is created through a combination of the socialization of group members, the influence of history and monumental events, as well as a number of internal and external forces operating with and against the flow of the organizational system. A new administrator looking to lead an organization will, by a cursory glance at its current culture, likely misinterpret the intricacies of cultural meaning. To reduce misinterpretation and clarify cultural elements, new administrators can share their perceptions with members of the organization to check the accuracy of those impressions (Kuh & Whitt, 1988).

#### **Cultural Vision**

Establishing a shared vision for an organization can be a powerful cultural element if developed and presented appropriately. According to Shein (1985), "Culture has something to do with *sharing* or consensus among the members of a group" (p. 246). New leaders must distill this consensus and draw from it appropriate meaning in order to formulate a positive vision for the group that they lead. "By focusing attention on a vision, the leader operates on the *emotional* and *spiritual* resources of the organization, on its values, commitment, and aspirations" (Bennis & Nanus, 1985, p. 92).

New administrators will first want to consider and "absorb" the culture of their organization before hastily creating and espousing an organizational vision; "If a president chose instead to defer immediate decisions while seeking further consultation, this, too, was praised as reflecting thoughtful consideration and an understanding of institutional culture" (Birnbaum, 1992, p. 76). Therefore, leaders will want to talk and interact with their constituents to identify shared meaning and gather common ideas of where individual members hope the organization is headed. Bennis and Nanus (1985) purport that "it usually turns out that the vision did not originate with the leader personally but rather from others" (p. 95).

As described by Wilson (1996), "The vision must be a shared vision to stimulate action and achieve results" (p. 4). The strong leader will identify these shared, cultural elements and incorporate them into a coherent expression of common vision for the organization. A new leader to a higher education institution cannot have a prefabricated vision for the organization based on past experiences and theories; one that is formulated without personal knowledge of or contact with the university. This is not to say, however, that the leader should avoid thinking about the direction they would like to see the organization heading while gathering general, intelligent information regarding the future of colleges and universities as an American institution.

Kouzes and Posner (1987) advocate drafting a written vision statement, drawing a picture or model of the vision, or producing a representative picture or symbol. The author argues that a well crafted vision itself can become a symbolic representation of an organization. As long as the vision incorporates the values and beliefs of the group, the statement can serve to unify all members of the organization. Consider Indiana University's "America's New Public University," or NASA's "Putting a Man on the Moon by 1970." The story goes that while mopping a floor in a NASA building, a custodian was asked what he was doing. He replied that he was putting a man on the moon by 1970 (Bennis & Nanus, 1985). Birnbaum (1992) tells us "The sense of direction is not important as much for its content—within limits—as for its symbolic value" (p. 26).

Kouzes and Posner (1987) compare the creation of a vision to the planning of an expedition:

It begins with a vague desire. As the desire grows in intensity, you realize that it isn't a passing fancy but something that you are determined to do. The strength of this internal energy forces you to clarify what it is that you really want to do. The end result becomes clearer and clearer. You begin to get a sense of what you want the organization to look like, feel like, and be like when you and others have completed the journey. (p. 86)

After spending time gaining an understanding of their organizations, new administrators feel comfortable articulating a shared vision that is appropriately broad for the moment, allowing for growth and clarification as the organization moves toward the desired ideal. Henry Rosovsky, Harvard's Dean of the Faculty of Arts and Sciences for eleven years, would agree that a certain amount of vagueness is appropriate in particular situations. His perspective dictates that new administrators would gain maximum approval from constituents by initially expressing a somewhat general vision toward which the organization could strive (Rosovsky, 1990).

This is not to say that an organizational vision must remain "out of focus" throughout the tenure of the leader. To the contrary, the leader and the organization must work together to clarify the vision by adding detail and precision as they move in concert toward the desired end product.

Administrators should seize every opportunity to espouse and integrate their vision into the fabric of the organization, eventually becoming part of the tacit, cultural assumptions embedded in the identity of the institution. Additionally, administrators can communicate their cultural vision concisely so that constituents do not become disinterested or confused. By utilizing a short version of organizational vision, members might adopt and repeat the vision with some degree of clarity. A skilled leader may want to develop a short version for casual interaction and a longer version of the vision for public speeches or formal addresses.

A vision of the future is not offered once and for all by the leader and then allowed to fade away. It must be repeated time and again. It must be incorporated in the organization's culture and reinforced through the strategy and decision-making process. It must be constantly evaluated for possible change in the light of new circumstances. (Bennis and Nanus, 1985, pp. 108-109)

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

New administrators should allow time to become familiar with the culture of an organization before publicly espousing a vision. To gather different perspectives on the culture, a new administrator could go to other constituents' offices for meetings rather than meeting in their own, or interact with organization members outside of the work atmosphere. Newcomers can encourage other individuals to be descriptive in their communications. Organizational members can be encouraged to take time to explain obvious cultural elements such as the meaning behind ceremonies and rituals and to relate institutional stories and myths.

College presidents often articulate vision statements in the first few months of their term (Bensimon, 1987 in Birnbaum, 1992), and that constituents want new presidents to take action relatively quickly. In extrapolating this to apply to many leaders assuming new positions, there will be similar pressure for these new college and university administrators to "perform." This added time constraint hinders the administrator's ability to gauge the organizational culture before developing a vision. Given the earlier discussion that the new administrator must be familiar with the organizational culture before formulating a vision, some of the preparation for the new appointment should take place prior to the commencement of the position. By studying published documents of the organization, making telephone calls to individuals, meeting with key players, and even touring the campus before the job actually begins, the administrator can begin to piece together the culture of the organization. This type of inquiry may even yield better and more accurate information than data collected once the administrator has assumed the post.

Becoming familiar with current research can enhance one's knowledge of the cultural elements within the organization and heighten sensitivity to such key aspects as cultural icons, symbols, and other tangible manifestations of organizational culture. Likewise, by researching the visioning process, one can become more knowledgeable about the process of creating and disseminating a vision statement (see Birnbaum (1992) and Kouzes & Posner (1987).

Last, new administrators should not join an organization with a set or prefabricated vision that they are unwilling to change or modify. Be open to input, criticism, and suggestions from others in the organization. Think of visioning as a process in which members of the organization shape the vision to embody their goals and aspirations. A participant in Birnbaum's (1992) study says, "do a lot of listening. And when you do that, solicit the dreams and hopes from the people" (p. 26).

#### REFERENCES

- Bennis, W. & Nanus, B. (1985). Leaders: The strategies for taking charge. New York: Harper & Row.
- Birnbaum, R. (1988). How colleges work: The cybernetics of academic organization and leadership. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Birnbaum, R. (1992). How academic leadership works: Understanding success and failure in the college presidency. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Brand, M. (1993, Fall). The challenge to change: Reforming higher education. Educational Record, 7-13.
- Chait, R. (1993). Colleges should not be blinded by vision. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, September 22, pp. B1-2.
- Fisher, L. (1954). Gandhi: His life an message for the world. New York: Signet.
- Gardner, J. (1990). On leadership. New York: The Free Press.
- Kouzes, J. & Posner, B. (1987). The leadership challenge: How to get extraordinary things done in organizations. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Kuh, G. & Whitt, E. (1988). The invisible tapestry: Culture in American colleges and universities. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report, No. 1. Washington, D.C.: Association for the Study of Higher Education.
- Lundberg, C. (1990). Working with culture. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 1(2), 38-47.
- Mish, F. (Ed.). (1989). The new Merriam-Webster dictionary. Springfield, Mass: Merriam-Webster.
- Peters, T. & Waterman, R. (1982). In search of excellence: Lessons from America's best-run companies. New York: Warner Books.
- Pfeffer, Jeffrey (1991). Management as symbolic action: The creation and maintenance of organizational paradigms. *Research in organizational behavior*, Vol. 3, pg. 1-52.
- Romer, R. (1995, Spring). Value added in higher education. *Adult Assessment Forum*, 15.
- Rosovsky, H. (1990). *The university: An owners manual.* New York: Norton.
- Senge, P. (1990). The leader's new work: Building learning organizations. *Sloan Management Review*, Fall, 7-23.
- Shein, E. (1985). Organizational culture and leadership. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Tierney, W. (1988). Organizational culture in higher education: Defining the essentials. *Journal of Higher Education*, 59, 2-21.
- Trudeau, K. (1991). *Mega Memory* (Cassette Recording No. 1060, 1-8). Niles, Illinois: Nightingale Conant.

Wilson, I. (1996). The practical power of vision. On the Horizon: The Environmental Scanning Publication for Educational Leaders, 4(2), 1, 3-6.

Brett Perozzi is the Director of the Campus Activities Center at Colorado State University and teaches the Higher Education Administration class in the SAHE program.

# Academic Life on the College Campus

#### José-Luis Riera

This article addresses the current situation of academic life on college campuses and its effect on students. The paper focuses on the perspective with which students view academia within their college experience, and how that has developed throughout the latter half of the 20th century. Suggestions are made for faculty and students to more effectively meet their needs within the academic environment.

As the sun rises in a beautiful clear blue sky, the scene is set for another move-in day on a college campus. It is 8:00 a.m. in late August, as many eager first-year students prepare to embark on a new phase of their lives. The importance of this day is all too familiar to faculty and staff at higher education institutions. However, today's students seem to have different attitudes towards their college experience than those of faculty and staff. Moreover, for the traditionally-aged college student, the expectations as well as the outcomes of the "college experience," notably vary from those who attended college several decades ago (Levine & Cureton, 1998). Through an historical review of the evolution of academic life on college campuses, this paper will examine the academic life of college students, describe their goals and aspirations, and discuss how institutions of higher education can serve students more effectively.

Important to evaluating the present state of academic life, is exploring the current climate facing the college student. Levine and Cureton (1998) report that higher education institutions are attracting older and more diverse students. In fact, "fewer than one in six of all current undergraduates fit the traditional stereotype of the American college student; eighteen to twenty-two years of age, attending full-time, and living on campus" (1998, p. 5). Therefore, a cross-section of college students would show a breadth of experience in the political and social events that have influenced them.

Many undergraduates no longer view their college experience as the central focus of their lives, even during the time they are attending school. Work, family, and a plethora of other responsibilities have reduced college coursework to another "activity." Consequently, college students seem to prefer their relationship with the institution to resemble their relationship with their bank, telephone company, or supermarket (Levine & Cureton, 1998). An expectation exists that college offices, administrators, and faculty be available and accessible when time is available in students' schedules. Students also expect a focus on customer service, specifically

"convenience, quality, service, and cost." Clearly today's students are more than just students, they are sophisticated consumers, who require their institutions to fill their needs.

A conflict exists between the students' focus on education as career preparation and learning for learning's sake, the guiding philosophy that formed higher education (Hersch, 1997). Modeled after the English universities of Oxford and Cambridge, the American undergraduate institutions sought responsibility for "guiding the social, as well as, academic dimensions..." of college students (Komives, Woodard, & Associates, 1996, p. 5). Historically, in an attempt to prepare students for "leadership and service," educators of the past designed the residential college as the epitome of academia and residential living within the same setting (Komives, Woodard & Associates, 1996).

Levine & Cureton (1998) found that students are coming to college "more career oriented but in need of academic remediation." In fact, "few people still believe in the importance of learning for learning's sake" (p.8). The emphasis on career-oriented education became cleaerer when college students were given the opportunity to rate the following four categories according to their level of importance: "'Career skills' 'personal values,' 'life skills,' and 'learning for learning's sake." (Hersh, Richard H., 1997, p. 18). Hersch found that, "Personal values are viewed by the majority of the audiences to be moderately important. Overall, learning for learning's sake was viewed by two-fifths of respondents as least important" (p. 18). Clearly, college students desired relevant, tangible, and applicable outcomes from their academic experience. Hersch (1997) reports that many traditionally-aged students' attitudes towards the type of college education they sought (i.e., liberal arts vs. career-oriented) were formed by the primary customer in the college search, the parents. That is, parents traditionally have the greatest influence over a college student's enrollment decision.

The concept of a liberal arts education is both questioned and considered "a luxury beyond their reach" for many parents and students (Hersch, 1997, p. 19). In Hersch's (1997) study, the value of a liberal arts education was questioned by 85 percent of students and 75 percent of parents because they indicated that a college's importance and value lies in its ability to "prepare students to get a better job and/or increase their earning potential" (p. 18). Also, many believed a liberal arts education was out of reach because it was too expensive and that "is true only of liberal arts education" (Hersch, 1997, p. 21). Since their focus was career-oriented, they felt that a liberal arts education did not prepare college students for the job market. However, "when pushed, most people agree that problem-solving, critical thinking, and writing and oral skills—abilities traditionally imparted by a liberal arts education—are, in fact, career skills…" (p. 18). In essence, "most people believe you can get a liberal arts education anywhere—it's not unique" (p. 17). Business

executives, however, seek students with liberal arts backgrounds and "have greater faith in the effectiveness of a liberal arts education than do parents" (p. 18).

Teaching methodologies have changed to adapt to the needs of the current student population. Today, the process of teaching and learning in the classroom is considered a communal act (Higgins, 1998). The formal lecture, as an educational technique fades, except in large universities. As Higgins clearly articulated, "dialogues and discussions actively involving the thinking of teachers and students are the hallmarks of the most stimulating and popular classes on campus" (p. 15). A cooperative teamwork approach among faculty, as well as students, is preferred by colleges and universities today. This concept extends into team teaching and team learning. "In form as well as content, the college is saying: we all need to depend on one another rather than compete with one another" (Higgins, 1998, p. 15). This emphasizes the importance of students working together as opposed to competing against each other. Those instructors who "co-learn" and model positive learner behaviors display successful teaching (Higgins, 1998, p. 15). One recommendation to college instructors reads, "Whenever possible, create learning communities organized around specific intellectual themes, community service projects, and other academic tasks" (Davis & Murrell, 1993; Tinto, Goodsell-Love, & Russo, 1993 as cited in Nuss, 1998, p. 188). Boyer reported:

Learning communities foster both active and collaborative learning strategies and help students learn to view each other as essential partners in the teaching and learning process. Colleges and universities should encourage faculty to make greater use of active modes of teaching and require students to take greater responsibility for their learning. Faculty reward systems should be designed to recognize these efforts. (as cited in Nuss, 1998, p. 188)

Engineering the curriculum today requires educators to intertwine world views and an emphasis on the interdisciplinary method, as opposed to confinement within a department or subject. Links between content theory and practice exist by way of internships that teach students to "apply learning to living while still in college" (Higgins, 1998, p. 16). Each of these fundamental changes in the approach to teaching in the classroom can be attributed to the evolving needs of students, as well as the willingness of college instructors to meet those needs over the past five decades.

Since the 1950s, the student has seen some remarkable changes. The invention of television dramatically influenced the academic development of the college student (Higgins, 1998). The television infused positive changes into the curricula of academia throughout the United States. Higgins recounted the process by which television turned the world into a "global village" where viewers could see debates

of political leaders, live cultural performances, and general news from around the world. Curricula took an interest in varying races, religions, and ways of life. Higgins stated that the "pervasive influence" of violence and sex created a social climate of cruelty, suspicion, manipulation, fear and retaliation, since "[s]tudents bring these emotions and habits of behavior to college" (p. 13). Levine and Cureton (1998) add, "Students are coming to college today feeling overwhelmed and more damaged psychologically than students who came in previous years" (p. 5). Since students are beginning college in this fashion, university counseling centers report eating disorders, drug abuse, gambling, alcohol abuse, suicide attempts and classroom disruption as serious issues (Levine & Cureton, 1998).

The decade of the Sixties brought yet another breakthrough for students - the computer (Higgins, 1998). Although many students did not own a personal computer, the technology, which a computer began to offer society, impacted students' lives. A sudden explosion of media via television, the birth control pill, and the computer broadened many students' perspectives beyond that of their parents. Many college campuses became arenas for independence. The focus of students, as a whole became to protest the resulting policies due to *in loco parentis*. The idea of *in loco parentis* was outright rejected by students, and the campus became a forum for sit-ins and protests over academic and social traditions.

In loco parentis was not a fair or just relationship. Women students were treated inequitably, in many cases, there were different standards for admission to the college, different dress codes, and different standards of acceptable student conduct. There was an absence of student freedom of speech and association, and the student was unable to challenge arbitrary rules and regulations. (Nuss, 1998, p. 185)

This affected the academic arena, in that "rigid academic requirements burst asunder" (Higgins, 1998, p. 14). Essentially, students disliked specific curricula required for one's degree being intertwined with general college requirements.

Curricula appeared to be in limbo in the Seventies (Higgins, 1998). There were no radical changes or new models of learning implemented, leaving instructors stagnant. Students accepted administrative attempts to return to the previous system based upon required courses with adjustments to curricula in specific disciplines. As Higgins stated "... the old order was over, but the new had not yet been defined" (p. 14).

The Eighties drew a much clearer picture of the "new student" (Higgins, 1998, p. 15). Administrators and faculty who dared to create new models for learning and teaching drove academia with a renewed energy. As reported in the 1990 publication, *Campus Life*, survey findings indicated that college students of the

Eighties were "more mature and more familiar with a home in a global world village than were their predecessors" (as cited in Higgins, 1998, p. 15). Students in this era were described as more independent and more sophisticated. College students, however, were limited in their cultural literacy and had more personal problems than reported by students in earlier decades. Also in the 1980s, colleges and universities noted the rise in the number of part-time and non-traditional students (Higgins, 1998).

Students entering college today are "radically different - in experience, expectations and needs" from their predecessors (Higgins. 1998. "Dramatic... technological changes are forcing higher education leaders to reconsider the fundamental nature of the college or university and its relationship with students" (Nuss, 1998, p. 183). The implementation and acceptance of technology in an academic environment has played a major role in the changed face of academic life. "The computer has, of course, become an indispensable tool in all content areas. It is now a way of thinking and composing... the computer has changed the dynamics of the classroom immeasurably" (Higgins, 1998, p. 16). The convergence of technology and learning present a very real struggle for many universities (Green, 1999). Distance learning education, using technology, continually increases the accessibility of higher education to all types of people. How can departments fulfill the needs of all students? The challenge for many academic departments is accepting "the responsibility for addressing the institutional challenge of access and lifelong learning" (Green, 1999, p. 11).

However, the effects of technology go beyond that of access. Non-traditional students and faculty both are more uncomfortable with technology than students of the current generation. Green (1999) stated:

Many undergraduates entering college today have an envied level of comfort with the keyboard, the computer, and the Internet. But what becomes truly challenging for faculty, what raises the level of faculty discomfort and Oedipal aggression in the classroom, is when students begin to confront professors on content – on what we know. (p. 12)

Essentially students' access to technology provides them with so much information, their knowledge surpasses that of their professors (Green, 1999). Confirmed reports show college students use e-mail to contact scholars discussed in class, and then they confront their professors on how they may have misrepresented the scholars' research. Another challenge to professors results from students' retrieval of information from the Web prior to professors' receipt, as many still depend solely on magazine publications.

Although technology may serve as a means to broaden a student's educational experience, there are definite identifiable factors that may delay a student's academic development. One of these factors is stress. Zurilla and Sheedy found that "college students, especially freshmen, are a group particularly prone to stress" (as cited in Ross, 1999, p. 312). In addition to the adjustment of being away from their homes for the first time, students feel pressure to "maintain a high level of academic achievement" (p. 312). Stress in the academic arena may result from the reality of their "continuous evaluation," such as weekly tests and/or papers. Other stress may include "excessive homework, unclear assignments, and uncomfortable classrooms" (Kohn & Frazer, as cited in Ross, 1999, p. 313). "In addition to academic requirements, relations with faculty members and time pressures may also be sources of stress" (Sgan-Cohen & Lowental, as cited in Ross, p. 313). Seventy-three percent of college students attribute one of their top five stressors to the increase in class workload (Ross, 1999). It still is unclear as to whether most stressors in a college student's life are due to academics or internal relationships. However, it is noteworthy to include that three out of the top five stressors in a college student's life were found to be intrapersonal; change in sleeping habits, change in eating habits. and new responsibilities (Ross, 1999).

It is important for administrators to identify what college students view as realistic goals, as well as their level of motivation to pursue these goals. According to several reports by Eskilson & Wiley (1999), students sought curriculum that supported their career goals. Contrary to the "popular assumption of Generation X," Eskilson & Wiley (1999, p. 51) reported that many students' responses to their survey questions seemed to be based on their family situation, their gender, socio-economic status, and their ethnicity. Most students reported that it is likely they would achieve their goals in life. However, first generation college students indicated concern that "difficulties with 'connections,' money, and getting the right education might impede their future success" (Eskilson & Wiley, 1999, p. 52). In fact, Eskilson and Wiley (1998), "found no correlation between college academic performance as measured by grade point average, and the importance attached to future material success, suggesting that their hopes for the future may not be founded on present effort and accomplishment" (p. 57). Many of today's students articulated this observation in the common phrase: It is not what you know, but whom you know. This truly epitomizes how students feel about making the "right" connections with others in order to develop and enjoy a successful career. Students considered money to be a prerequisite to success; both for sustenance and education costs (Eskilson & Wiley, 1999). In addition, students realized that a lack of money and helpful "connections" could impede success for those in a lower socio-economic bracket.

Students also identified motivation as a determining factor of success. Eskilson & Wiley's (1990) research showed that for white women and men of color, "those whose parents had a low level of education are, on average, more optimistic than

their counterparts from a higher educational background" (p. 52). Women of color displayed an opposite pattern than others tested, and there was no impact of "parental education" on white males. In summary, minority respondents were found significantly more likely to expect financial success (Eskilson & Wiley, 1999). This pointed to the feeling that students had an expectation to be as good as their parents, rather than having the inner drive or desire to be more educated than one's parents (Eskilson & Wiley, 1999). However, there was some overlap in goals rated most highly by women and men, white and minorities alike. The top five goals that overlapped included: "having a warm caring relationship with another adult, to acquire mastery of skills for their occupation, to have a secure financial future, to have a comfortable relationship with their original family, and to be physically fit" (Eskilson & Wiley, 1999, p. 60).

Truly, the academy is transitioning. Faculty are learning new teaching skills, in order to better meet the needs of students. This is a challenge for professors, especially since many have never seen new teaching models of demonstrated. However, it appears that both the students' motivation and the instructors' attempt to adapt their teaching styles need to change to facilitate more effective communication and learning in the classroom. As Higgins (1998) states, "most college administrators, trustees, faculty and staff... would agree that the true goal of higher education is to transform lives. The acceptance of this challenge might indeed be the most important 'change' in higher education that has occurred over the last 50 years" (p. 15).

#### REFERENCES

- Eskilson, A. & Wiley, M. G. (1999). Solving for the X: Aspirations and expectations of college students. *Citation of Youth and Adolescence*, 30 (1), 51-70.
- Green, K. C. (1999, March). When wishes come true: Colleges and the convergence of access, lifelong learning, and technology. *Change*, 31 (2), 10-15.
- Hersh, Richard H. (1997, March). Intentions and perceptions: A national survey of public attitudes toward liberal arts education. *Change*, 29, 16-23.
- Higgins, T. (1998 August). Evolutions in Higher Education. *Momentum*, 29 (3), 12-15.
- Komives, S., Woodard, D. & Associates. (1996). Student services: A handbook for the profession. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Levine, A. & Cureton, J. (1998). When hope and fear collide: A portrait of today's college students. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1998.

- Nuss, E. (1998). Redefining college and university relationships with students. *NASPA Journal*, 35 (3), 183-92.
- Ross, S. (1999 June). Sources of stress among college students. *College Student Journal*, 33 (2), 312-17.

José-Luis Riera ('01) is a student in the Student Affairs in Higher Education graduate program at Colorado State University.

# Gender On Campus: Issues for College Women

Sharon Bohn Gmelch Rutgers University Press, 1998 224 pages, \$16.00 (softcover)

## Reviewed by Wendy M. Wallace

Gender On Campus (1998) by Sharon Bohn Gmelch was a refreshing, yet equally saddening glance at women's status on college and university campuses. Gmelch examined the harsh realities collegiate women experience day in and day out. This book brought together the variety of issues faced by women in college as the end of the twentieth century neared. She brought the reader up to date with statistics and information, which were known to be true as many as twenty years ago. Some of the statistics reinforced the myth that changes have occurred, while in truth, women's status in society, mirrored on the college campus, has changde minimally. The abolition of the differences or the disparities in treatment between the genders is distant. Gmelch provided concrete and specific examples of ways women and men can address the issues that divide them. Gmelch divided her book into four sections: Gender Issues on Campus, Dealing With Diversity, Sexuality and the Body, and College and Beyond.

Gmelch approached the topics of feminism, gender and the classroom, the impact of language, and women in athletics in the first section of her book. She defined feminism as "one of humanity's basic social movements for equality and liberty" (1998, p. 8). According to Gmelch, to be a feminist was to be a proponent of women having full equality to men, to deplore sexism, and to desire a world in which men and women are equally valued.

Gmelch's dedication to diversity and the exploration of women's issues from multiple perspectives, evident in the second portion of her book, was refreshing. She discussed the unique issues of women of color, non-traditionally aged women, women with disabilities, and women who identify as lesbian, bisexual, or transgendered. Although Gmelch dedicated a chapter specifically to diversity, she also wove the need to address the diversity of women throughout her book. Gmelch examined sexuality, drug and alcohol use, work, politics, and media through the lens of multiculturalism. This intertwining of diversity issues reinforced her premise that white, able-bodied, heterosexual women are not the only ones who face gender-related discrimination.

Unfortunately, as much as Gmelch dedicated attention to issues of diversity, she skimmed over women's issues surrounding sexuality in one chapter of the third section entitled, "Sexuality and the Body." Without fully exploring the various sexuality issues women face in college such as contraception and pregnancy, she wrapped sexual exploration, sexually transmitted infections, HIV and AIDS, and abortion into one very brief chapter pertaining to sexuality. Gmelch did explore other issues related to health and sexuality, including eating disorders and body image, problems with drugs and alcohol, and sexual assault. She further identified the impact men, media, and expectations played upon these concerns: Gmelch suggested that advertisements offer a "distorted image of womanhood" (p. 217) in which "women's bodies are used to advertise virtually everything" (p. 218).

In her last section, Gmelch moved beyond the college environment, broadening her focus to media, work, and politics. For women transitioning out of college, these aspects played an important role in their lives. She claimed that the manner in which women are portrayed in magazines, films, television programs, and in the news has indirectly contributed to women's perception of their place in society. Gmelch alleged that the focus of the images on sexuality further influenced how both men and women view, behave around, and interact with the female sex in the years after college. Gmelch asserted that women who work outside of the home continue to face similar issues and inequalities as women in college, including "the difficulty of balancing work and family obligations" (p. 242).

Gmelch's follow-up in each chapter, with concrete information and approaches to initiate change, was the most inspirational part of *Gender On Campus*. Each chapter ended with three sections: "Did You Know," "What You Can Do," and "Resources." The first section, "Did You Know?," listed facts and figures relevant to the subject at hand:

"Four percent of women with disabilities have college degrees, compared to 20 percent of nondisabled women." (p. 141)

"The ethnic composition of entering college students in the 1990s is roughly 8 percent African American, 2 percent Native American, 4 percent Asian, 4 percent Latino, and 82 percent white." (p. 108)

"What You Can Do" presented the reader with specific strategies for handling concerns and addressing problems on campus:

"If you are heterosexual, do not assume everyone else is. Pay attention to the language you use and to the assumptions it contains. Don't automatically assume, for example, that other women will want to bring their boyfriends to a social event. Instead, ask them to bring their partners or significant others." (p. 87)

"Encourage the office of residence life or the dean of students to train resident advisors about eating disorders and have them talk to incoming first-year students about the risks and how to detect a possible problem." (p. 163)

The final section, "Resources," provided readers with a list of books, videos, and organizations from which one can seek new information and sources to educate students, faculty, and staff. Examples included the following:

#### Book

"Tannen, Deborah. 1990. You Just Don't Understand. New York: Morrow." (p. 57)

#### Video

"Women of Hope: Latinas Abriendo Camino. This twenty-eight-minute documentary, produced by the Bread and Roses Project, profiles twelve women who have broken new ground in their lives and achievements, in politics, writing, theater, and other areas. It includes important archival footage and features a soundtrack of diverse and important Latin music. A study guide and posters are also available. Films for the Humanities, PO Box 2053, Princeton, NJ 08543-2053. Phone: (800) 257-5126" (p. 114)

## Organization

"Media Watch, PO Box 618, Santa Cruz, CA 95061-0618. Phone: (408) 423-6355. Media Watch is a national organization concerned with the image of women in media. It produces a quarterly newsletter. If you subscribe, you will receive preaddressed, prewritten postcards to send to executives, advertisers, and marketers who engage in sexist advertising." (p. 233)

The strategies described in *Gender On Campus* provide student affairs administrators with tangible information and methods to create change on campuses and to create welcoming environments for all women. Bulletin boards, pamphlets, workshops, seminars, class lectures, and discussions were some of the identified tools that school administrators could utilize to educate their student population.

Gmelch's own biases toward these issues and themes were prevalent through the topics on which she provided the most information. First and foremost, as a woman, the bias of growing up female in a patriarchal society perhaps influenced her selection of this topic as a subject for her authorship. As an anthropology professor,

her specific background is in gender and ethnicity, perhaps explaining why she wove more ethnic and racial themes through her book than discussing issues for women with disabilities, non-traditionally aged women, or women who identify as lesbian, bisexual, or transgendered.

This book is highly recommended for many people: women entering college; other women wanting to understand the current issues faced by their sisters, daughters, mothers, and friends; men wishing to understand the issues women face; and administrators wanting to create positive change on their campus. Gmelch believed awareness, understanding, and action are key components to creating a more genderequal world for college women in the next millennium.

#### REFERENCE

Gmelch, S. B. (1998). Gender on campus: Issues for college women. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.

Wendy M. Wallace ('99) is a Complex Coordinator at Colorado State University.

## Class of 1999

Each year, students of the graduating SAHE class conduct original research in the form of a thesis, or prepare a professional paper in order to meet graduation requirements. The Editorial Board is pleased to share the research topics from the Class of 1999.

What follows is the current placement of the members of the Class of 1999, followed by the title of their research. Please feel free to contact the author if you would like more information about his or her research. A copy of each author's thesis or professional paper also are kept in the SAHE Library, located in the Palmer Center on the Colorado State University campus.

#### Leslie Alfonso

University Advancement Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado

Tort Liability in Higher Education: Future Impact on Student Affairs
Professionals

## Ruthann Coyote

Residence Life
University of Arizona
Tucson, Arizona

Motivations for Giving in Alumni Donors at a Public Institution

## Laura Dicke

Area Coordinator John Carroll University University Heights, Ohio

Throwing a Pebble Into the Pond: The Impact of the President's Leadership Program on Students' Ethical Leadership Development

## **Tanya Dommel**

English Instructor Hong-Ik University Seoul, Korea

Adopted Asian-American Students: A Journey Through College

### **Andrew Feldman**

Assistant Director of Student Life for Community Services
University of Vermont
Burlington, Vermont
Making the Colorado State University Challenge Ropes Course a More
Effective Teambuilding Experience

#### Rebecca Fernandez

Student Development Specialist / Student Support Services
Metro State College of Denver
Denver, Colorado

A Qualitative Study on the Future of Ethnic Studies at Colorado State University: Considering the Validity of Creating an Ethnic Studies Department

## Kyle Funakoshi

Recruitment Coordinator for Asian / Pacific Students
Washington State University
Pullman, Washington
Providing Advocacy Support Services for Multiracial/Multiethnic
Students at Colorado State University

#### Erin E. Guild

Assistant Director of Campus Activities and Conference Services
Front Range Community College - Larimer Campus
Fort Collins, Colorado
Promoting Academic Integrity at Colorado State University

## Tami L. Gonzales

Fort Collins, Colorado

A Qualitative Study: How United States Global Nomads Experience
College

## **Gwen Johnson**

Academic Advisor
Western State College
Gunnison, Colorado
Wilderness Pursuit Orientation Program: A Model

## Kyle Kraus

Residence Director
University of Massachusetts, AmherstAmherst. Massachusetts

K-12 and Higher Education: Historical Review, Collaboration, and the Future Implications for Student Affairs

## **Christie Leighton**

Office of Financial Aid Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado

Paraprofessionals in the Financial Aid Office: Considerations for a Comprehensive Program

## Kirsten Peterson

Resident Director
University of Santa Clara
Santa Clara, California
of Mission Statements and the Privat

The Relationship of Mission Statements and the Privatization of Campus Housing

#### . Laurel Reed

Assistant Director of Campus Activities
Denison University
Granville, Ohio

The University-Wide Support Staff Development Program: A Model

#### Dave Rosch

Resident Director Syracuse University Syracuse, New York

Using the SID-IV and CSEQ to Measure Intellectual Development of Students in a Distance Education Program

## Jennifer G. Roy

Coordinator of Programming and Leadership Development California State University, Chico Chico, California

Factors That Deter Ethnically Diverse Students from Pursuing Resident Assistant Positions at Colorado State University

#### **Dave Ruble**

Resident Director
Western Washington University
Bellingham, Washington
Involvement Revisited: Students with Learning Disabilities and Their
Needs Outside the Classroom

## **Tracey Souverein**

Fort Collins, Colorado
The Need for Change: Universities and Women with Families

Wendy M. Wallace

Complex Coordinator Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado

Traversing Mountains: The Career Experience of Female Student
Affairs Professionals

# Colorado State University Journal of Student Affairs Guidelines for Manuscript Preparation

## Purpose

Manuscripts should be written for the Student Affairs generalist who has broad responsibility for educational leadership, policy, staff development, and management. Articles with specialized topics, such as harassment, should be written to provide the generalist with an understanding of the importance of the program area to Student Affairs; such an article should not take the form of a program specialist writing to a program specialist.

The Editorial Board invites submissions of the following types of articles:

- Quantitative, Qualitative, or Emancipatory Research Articles
- Editorial Articles
- Historical Articles
- Opinion/Position Pieces
- Book Reviews

Research articles for the *Journal* should stress the underlying issues or problem that stimulated the research; treat the methodology concisely; and most importantly, offer a full discussion of the results, implications, and conclusions.

#### Procedure

Manuscripts should not exceed 3,000 words (approximately 12 pages of double-spaced, typewritten copy, including references, tables, and figures), and should not be fewer than 1,000 words (approximately four pages). Exceptions should be discussed with the editors prior to submission.

#### To submit an article:

- 1. Prepare the manuscript, including title page and reference page, in accordance with the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Fourth Edition*.
- 2. Send the original the manuscript to the address listed for the editorial board.
- 3. Include an article abstract and brief description of the author(s).
- 4. Double-space all portions of the manuscript, including references, tables, and figures.
- Avoid sexist terminology; refer to page 50 of the Publication Manual for assistance.
- 6. Do not use footnotes; incorporate the information into the text.
- 7. Use the active voice as much as possible.
- 8. Check subject/verb agreement, singular/plural.

- 9. Use verb tense appropriately: past tense for the literature review and description of procedures, and present tense for the results and discussion.
- 10. Proofread and double check all references/citations before submitting your manuscript.
- 11. Save your article in Rich Text Format (.rtf), IBM versions, whenever possible.
- 12. Authors will be provided with a 3.5" disk on which to type their article; this disk should be submitted with your final copy.
- 13. Any article under consideration for publication in a nationally distributed journal may not be submitted to the Colorado State Journal of Student Affairs.

## **PAST EDITORS**

As we produce the ninth edition of the Colorado State University Journal of Student Affairs, we want to acknowledge those who have layed the foundation for our success.

# **MANAGING EDITORS**

1998-99	Kirsten Peterson '99
1997-98	Beth Yohe '98
1996-97	Ray Gasser '97 & Jocelyn Lowry '97
1995-96	DeEtta Jones '96 & Michael Karpinski '96
1994-95	Jeremy Eaves '95 & Alicia Vik '95
1993-94	Mary Frank '94 & Keith Robinder '94
1992-93	Jodi Berman '93 & Brad Lau '93
1991-92	Marie E. Oamek '92

# **FACULTY ADVISORS**

1996 to present	Martha Fosdick ('95), Assistant to the Vice President for
	Student Affairs, Colorado State University
1991 to 1998	Dr. Keith Miser, Vice President for Student Affairs, Colorado
	State University

STUDENT AFFAIRS IN HIGHER EDUCATION GRADUATE PROGRAM

COLORADO STATE UNIVERSITY
PALMER CENTER
1005 WEST LAUREL STREET
FORT COLLINS, CO 80523-8032

NON PROFIT
ORGANIZATION
U.S. POSTAGE
PAID
FT. COLLINS, CO 80523
PERMIT NUMBER 19